

# European Hare *Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778

Klaus Hackländer

# Contents

Common Names	132
Taxonomy and Systematics	132
Paleontology	133
Current Distribution	133
Description	135 135 135 137 137
Physiology	138
Genetics	139
Life History Reproduction Growth Survival	139 139 141 142
Habitat and Diet Habitat Diet	142 142 144
Behavior Activity Pattern Locomotion	145 145 145

K. Hackländer (⊠)

University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Department of Integrative Biology and Biodiversity Research, Institute of Wildlife Biology and Game Management, Vienna, Austria

Deutsche Wildtier Stiftung (German Wildlife Foundation), Hamburg, Germany e-mail: klaus.hacklaender@boku.ac.at

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 K. Hackländer, P. C. Alves (eds.), *Primates and Lagomorpha*, Handbook of the Mammals of Europe, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34043-8\_9

Communication and Signals	146
Social Behavior	146
Mating Behavior	147
Parental Care	147
Antipredator Behavior	147
Parasites and Diseases	148
Population Ecology	149
Recruitment and Density	149
Interspecific Competition	150
Conservation Status	150
Management	151
Future Challenges for Research and Management	152
References	152

#### **Common Names**

English	European hare, brown hare, European brown
	hare, and common hare
German	Feldhase
French	Lièvre d'Europe, Lièvre européen, Lièvre
	commun, Lièvre brun, hase
Spanish	Liebre europea, Liebre común
Italian	Lepre commune, Lepre europea
Russian	За́яц-руса́к

# **Taxonomy and Systematics**

As it is the case with many Lepus species (see Introduction to this volume), taxonomy and systematics are a matter of an ongoing debate also for L. europaeus (Fig. 1). The species has no type locality, but according to Trouessart (1910), Pallas had his specimen from S Poland and Pannonia. The true distribution range and the taxonomic status remain still unclear due to smooth transitions between potential species, hybridization within the genus Lepus, and vast ecological plasticity. In the past, L. europaeus was included in L. capensis (see species chapter in this volume). Today, there are contradictory results from genetic studies (e.g., Ben Slimen et al. 2008; Ferreira et al. 2021; Lado et al. 2019). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) data suggest that L. europaeus is closer than expected to L. capensis from Near East and East Africa regions, despite demonstrating

divergence at nuclear level, which might indicate ancestral admixture and mtDNA introgression (Lado et al. 2019). A recent phylogenomic study confirms that the European hare is closer to African hare species, but shows levels of genomic differentiation similar to the ones observed among other pairs of hare species (Ferreira et al. 2021). As long as these uncertainties are dominating the scientific debate, *L. europaeus* remains a distinct species.

Out of the sixteen recognized subspecies of *L. europaeus*, twelve have been described for Europe. However, these are all based on differences in size and coat color and thus are doubtful in the light of the ongoing debate on the species status itself:

L. e. europaeus Pallas, 1778, in W Europe; L. e. caspicus Hemprich and Ehrenberg, 1832, in Lower Volga and Kalmykia (Russia); L. e. creticus Barrett-Hamilton, 1903, in Crete (Greece); L. e. cypricus Barrett-Hamilton, 1903, in Cyprus; L. e. hybridus Desmarest, 1822, in the Baltic states, Belarus, Ukraine, Finland, and W Russia; L. e. karpathorum Hilzheimer, 1906, in the Carpathian mountains; L. e. medius Nilsson, 1820, in Denmark; L. e. occidentalis de Winton, 1898, in Great Britain; L. e. parnassius Miller, 1903, in C Greece; L. e. ponticus Ognev, 1929, at the Black sea coast; L. e. rhodius Festa, 1914, in Rhodes (Greece); L. e. transsylvanicus Matschie, 1901, in E and SE Europe.



Fig. 1 Two adult European hares. © Rolf Giger with kind permission

# Paleontology

The place of origin of L. europaeus is most likely the Middle East. The oldest reliable fossil remains of L. europaeus (euxinicus) within Europe are from the Late Pleistocene and were found in Crimea and Moldova (Averianov et al. 2003) as well as in C Italy (Angelone et al. 2020). From there on, L. europaeus was quite common in S Europe, with fossils reported in more than 60 occurrences from Spain, France, Italy, former Yugoslavia, Bulgaria, Hungary, Moldova, the Ukraine, Crimea, the European Russia, Kazakhstan, and the Caucasus region (Averianov et al. 2003). The Holocene fossil findings of L. europaeus come from more than 120 locations in Switzerland, Austria, Poland, former Yugoslavia, Hungary, Israel, Moldova, Ukraine, and Crimea, as well as the Caucasus and the Urals regions. Both the Pleistocene and the Holocene fossil records of L. europaeus lie within the current distribution range of the species. The most reliable morphological characters for identifying L. europaeus fossil material are dental features. The size of skulls or other bones play only a minor role in the determination of fossil L. europaeus as some European Pleistocene populations of *L. timidus* show a similar size (Averianov et al. 2003). In most cases, the determination of fossil remains of *L. europaeus* cannot be verified by descriptions and illustrations of the underlying material; they often only appear in fauna lists. All of these determinations should be taken with great care and classified as indetermined Leporidae (Angelone et al. 2020). Pleistocene hare remains from Spain and Italy, which were ascribed to either *L. europaeus* or *L. capensis*, may also belong to *L. granatensis*, *L. castroviejoi*, or *L. corsicanus* (Kotsakis et al. 2003).

# **Current Distribution**

Originally, *L. europaeus* was distributed over steppes, steppe forests, and open areas in woodlands in SE and C Europe, the Middle East, the Caucasus, the Russian lowlands, and W Kazakhstan. After colonization of continental Europe following human agriculture (Lado et al. 2018), hares increased locally their densities but were still uncommon in the late medieval time (Huber 1973). The rise of European hare population started in the eighteenth and nineteenth century with increasing agricultural efficiency, e.g., through drainage of swamps and field melioration (Huber 1973). Currently, the European hare can be found throughout Europe except the very SW (C and S Iberian Peninsula, south of Cantabria, and the river Ebro) as well as far N (C and N Fennoscandia, N Russia as well as the islands in the Arctic Sea) (Fig. 2). European hares have been introduced to many European islands including several British isles and numerous ones in the Mediterranean Sea (e.g., Crete, Rhodes, Cyprus, and Corsica) (Masseti and De Marinis 2008).

The distribution range in Europe is expanding. Already Ognev (1940 in Angermann 1972) described a shift to N and E in Russia and Kazakhstan beginning 200 years ago. Whereas land use change, namely deforestation and increase of arable land, was the main driver since the beginning of the twentieth century (Angermann 1972), global warming is an additional factor fostering the range expansion of the European hare, as the example in Fennoscandia shows (Jansson and Pehrson 2007; Thulin 2003). In line with that, European hare range expansion toward higher altitude has been reported for the Alps (Schai-Braun et al. 2021a).



Fig. 2 Current distribution of *Lepus europaeus* following Schai-Braun and Hackländer (2016). (Map template: © Copyright Getty Images/iStockphoto)

# Description

#### Size and Morphology

The European hare is a typical leporid with longer hind limbs than forelimbs. It is the largest hare in W Europe, however with huge variation across range: head-body the distribution length 530-760 mm, tail length 70-140 mm, hind-foot length 120-185 mm, ear length 90-150 mm, and body weight 2.5-8 kg (Angermann 1972; Grimmberger et al. 2009; Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2016; Zörner 1981). An increase in size following Bergmann's rule from SW to NE can be observed. Moreover, Pielowski (1969) described an increase in body weight from W to E, i.e., with increasing continentality. In sum, morphological variation within the species can be explained mainly by geographical variation, differences in habitat and climate. However, some morphological features might be forged due to the anthropogenic intermixing of hare strong populations in the last centuries, since hares have been translocated across Europe, and even back from S America (e.g., Uruguay and Argentina, Suchentrunk et al. 2006) where they were previously introduced, mainly for hunting purposes.

There is no pronounced sexual dimorphism, and a distinction between the sexes in the field is quite impossible from the distance, if single hares are observed. However, females are slightly larger (Bujalska 1964) and heavier than males (Caboń-Raczyńska 1974; Flux 1967a; Kröning 1963). Sexing according to the primary sexual characteristics can lead to errors, because the penis and the clitoris look similar at first glance. The penis is pointed, tubular, and curved slightly backward. The clitoris, on the other hand, has a groove with a similar shape like the penis. In addition, during times of sexual inactivity or in younger individuals, males do not have their testicles in the scrotum, i.e., not visible from outside.

The eyes of European hares are large with rounded pupils. The iris color is highly variable ranging from dark brown to bright yellow. Hares can close their nostrils with two skin folds. The upper lip is split in the middle ("harelip"). A hare's forefeet have 5 and the hind feet 4 clawed toes. The sole is densely haired and no pads are visible. Hares have three pairs of teats (but see Massányi et al. 1997) and thus follow Aristotle's "one-half rule" (Diamond 1987), saying that the number of teats in a mammal is twice as high as the average litter size (see "Reproduction").

The skull of European hares is relatively large and elongated, with a broad, dorsally distended nasal part (Fig. 3). The anterior and posterior wings of the supraorbital processes are well developed and mostly free. The maxillaria have a sievelike appearance. The fossa mesopterygoidea is broad, the bony palate short (ca. 8% of the Cbl), and the choans wide (ca. 130% of the Cbl; Corbet 1983).

Characteristic for all leporids is the relatively large caecum, which exceeds the total body length of a hare. As in other hindgut fermenter, this part of the digestive tract is used to increase the digestibility of fibers with the help of microbial activity (see "Diet"). According to data provided by Caboń-Raczyńska (1964a) and Slamečka et al. (1997), the heart is large, weighing more than 1% of the body weight, which exceeds the general pattern for mammals (0.55%, Lindstedt and Schaeffer 2002). This can be interpreted as an adaption to persistent and high-speed running (see "Locomotion").

## Pelage

The pelage is soft and smooth. Hair lengths range between 4 and 10 mm (Borowski 1964). The fur is dominated by dense down hair, which are about 12  $\mu$ m thick and roughened on the surface (Kayser s.a. in Koenen 1956). Awn hairs are sparse, and only a few guard hairs can be found mainly on the lateral parts of the body. Awn hair are about 84–90  $\mu$ m thick. According to Toldt (1935), ventral hairs are thinner than dorsal ones. Hairs in the auricles are short, otherwise alternating between about 5 and 10 mm in length on the body.















**Fig. 3** Skull of *Lepus europaeus*. (**a**, **b**, **d**) lateral, dorsal, and ventral view of skull, (**c**) lateral view of left mandible (view from outside), and (**e**) dorsal view of mandible ( $\mbox{$\mathbb{C}$}$  Franz Müller with kind permission)

Particularly long hair was found in the anal region, 72 mm in winter coat. Fur density is up to 175 hairs/mm<sup>2</sup> (Waldeyer-Petri s.a. in Koenen 1956). Whisker hairs on the lids and lips are up to 110 mm long, the longer ones are predominantly white.

Hair molt of *L. europaeus* was described in all months with the exception of December and January, but especially in the months of March to June and September. This is interpreted as changing hair twice a year (autumn and spring). Molt is triggered by changing photoperiod and

might be accelerated by temperature (Sokolov et al. 2009). According to Borowski (1964), the course of the molt both in spring and autumn begins on the back, then moves to the chest, and later includes the head, ears and neck, and finally the ventral parts. In contrast, according to Hewson (1963), the molting process in autumn is the opposite of that in spring.

In general, the fur is tawny or rusty with a whitish ventral part. The color of the summer fur varies considerably between individuals, from ocher-gray or brownish-yellow or brown to yellowish-gray with a distinct blackish tinge on the back, which is caused by the black or blackbrown tips of the awn and down hairs. The latter is silver gray or white with black or brownish black tips. The back of the ears is white or grayish-white with a black or black-brown spot on the tip. The tips of the ears have a large triangular patch on the back that contrasts with the paler gray of the rest of the ear color. The cheeks are ocher-brown or ocher-gray. The chest and flanks are tan or rust-colored. The outer sides of the limbs are ocher-brown, and their inner surfaces and the belly side are white. The tail has a black spot on top but is pure white below. For more information on coat color and interindividual variation, see Rieck (1953), Koenen (1956), and Borowski (1964).

The winter fur is thicker and woollier. All three hair types are also longer in winter, and the hair density is higher. The winter coat is lighter and grayer compared to the summer coat. All winter coat characteristics (hair length, hair density, and coat color change) get more pronounced along a gradient from S to NE (Rieck 1953). In the S, the winter coat is colored almost like in summer (Sokolov et al. 2009), but in winter there is some white on the sides of the head and at the base of the ears, some gray on the thighs. In individuals from the N (from Belarus eastward), the winter fur is mostly white except for the front back, head, and ears that are darker (Sokolov et al. 2009). Note that the white hairs of L. europaeus are blackish at their base in contrast to pure white hairs in L. timidus winter coat (Grimmberger et al. 2009).

# Dentition

As all European leporids, *L. europaeus* has 28 teeth with  $I^1$ ,  $I^2$ ,  $P^1$ ,  $P^2$ , and  $P^3$  and  $M^1$ ,  $M^2$ , and  $M^3$  as well as  $I_1$ ,  $P_1$ , and  $P_2$  and  $M_1$ ,  $M_2$ , and  $M_3$ . The incisivi are surrounded by enamel all around. The  $I^1$  have a mesially located longitudinal furrow that, in rare cases, may contain some cement. Typical of the species'  $I^1$  compared to *L. timidus* is the rectangular, nonsquare crosssection (Hauser 1921) with a width-to-thickness ratio of around 1.6. Despite the premolar milk teeth, all teeth are rootless and grow continuously. Problems might arise when a tooth breaks in asymmetric skulls. In this case, the teeth have no counterparts and grow spiraled (Müller-Using 1974).

#### Age Determination

Due to the size variation within the species, age determination by skull size, body length, or weight is hazardous, both in adults (Suchentrunk et al. 1991) and in leverets (Bray et al. 2002).

In the field, age class (subadult vs. adult) can be assessed by Stroh's sign (Stroh 1931), an epiphyseal protrusion that can be palpated as a lateral ulnar knob close to the carpal joint. In European hares, this protrusion can no longer be palpated at an age of approximately 6-8 months. However, Suchentrunk et al. (1991) reported that some young of the year lost Stroh's sign already at an age of 4 months, and some individuals might still have this sign at an age older than 12 months. However, on average young hares born very early in the year are no longer recognized as subadults during autumn using Stroh's sign. Therefore, the reliability of this age determination method decreases rapidly toward the end of the year (Rieck 1966; Zörner 1977). Thus, the precision of age structure analysis using Stroh's sign in autumnal hunting bag depends on the hunting date: The percentage of undetected young hares ranges between 10 and 20% for hunting dates in November; in December it can be up to 50% (Rieck 1967). Bujalska et al. (1965) mentioned an error rate of up to 70%. Despite these restrictions, Stroh's sign is still the most applicable age determination method in the field if season is considered. This age determination method may be valid in other hare species, too.

A more appropriate age determination is done by determining the dried eye-lens weight (DLW) as described by Andersen and Jensen (1972) and further elaborated by Broekhuizen and Maaskamp (1979) as well as Suchentrunk et al. (1991). This method allows distinguishing between young of the year and adults (hares from the previous year) as well as estimation of date of birth within young of the year to cluster them into birth cohorts. In populations with reproductive pause (see "Reproduction"), young of the year and adults can easily be distinguished when frequencies of DLW are plotted as the distribution has two peaks then. In areas where hares reproduce all year round, the DLW method is less useful, since such frequency peaks might not appear.

# Physiology

In optimal conditions, body weight of adults seems to be stable throughout the year (Caboń-Raczyńska 1964a), while body composition varies. For example, body fat reserves fluctuate seasonally. Fat depots are built up during autumn until winter, with males having higher body fat indices (approximately 2.7% of body weight) than females (approximately 2%, Zörner 1981). The body fat reserves are depleted gradually from winter onward (Flux 1967a; Packer 1989; Rieck 1953; Schneider 1978) until no retroperitoneal fat is left in summer. Hence, in terms of reproduction, female hares rely on body fat resources early in the year (capital breeder) and on energy sources from their diet in summer (income breeder) (Valencak et al. 2010). Peak sustained energy assimilation rates in lactating females are highest in autumn when food intake increases to cover the energetic costs of milk production for the precocial young (Valencak et al. 2010).

At rest (in the thermoneutral zone), body temperature is slightly above 38 °C (Paci et al. 2006), heart rate between 95 (Paci et al. 2006) and 140 beats min<sup>-1</sup> (Noszczyk-Nowak et al. 2009), and oxygen consumption about 0.54 ml g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Kronfeld and Shkolnik 1996). The upper critical ambient temperature is about 32 °C (Kronfeld and Shkolnik 1996). In winter, for every 1 °C decrease, adult hares increase food intake by 3.6 kcal kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> (Myrcha 1968), whereas leverets respond by 7.4 kcal kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> (Pilarska 1969). All these values have to be considered in the light of allometric effects, but body weights of examined hares were not always given in the studies mentioned above.

The precocial leverets are able to maintain normothermy from day 1 of life when exposed to temperatures down to  $-8 \degree C$  (Hackländer et al. 2002a). Resting metabolic rates in leverets are comparably low during cold, and heat loss might be reduced by peripheral vasoconstriction. This is believed to be an adaption to precociality and low maternal care (see "Behavior"). Heat loss is reduced in the first weeks of life with increasing body weight and decreasing thermal conductance. The slopes of regression of resting metabolic rates (RMR, i.e., in the thermoneutral zone) versus ambient temperatures for each week of life decreased from 0.54 W  $kg^{-1}$  C<sup>-1</sup> in week 1 to 0.21 W kg<sup>-1</sup> C<sup>-1</sup> in weeks 3–5 of life (Hackländer et al. 2002a).

Muscles are dark and long-fibered. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are enriched in muscle phospholipids compared to white adipose tissue lipids and liver phospholipids (Valencak et al. 2003). Especially, the content of n-6 PUFAs in muscles from *L. europaeus* is high, characterizing the hare as a typical persistent runner (Ruf et al. 2006).

In areas with reproductive pause, the reproductive cycle of hares is triggered by photoperiod (Martinet 1976). Reproductive hormones are following this seasonal cycle (Massányi et al. 2000; Slamečka et al. 2001; Stavy et al. 1978). Studies on female sexual hormones concentrated mainly on the phenomenon of superfetation (see "Reproduction"). Progesterone levels dropped after day 35 of gestation indicating the onset of an estrus during pregnancy (Caillol and Martinet 1976). Prolactin increased before that drop prepartum and then increased stronger after the first

1990). suckling stimulus (Caillol et al. Luteinizing hormone (LH) and folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) are also increasing after day 34 of gestation, indicating estrus and readiness for the induced ovulation while pregnant (Caillol and Martinet 1983; Caillol et al. 1991a).

### Genetics

Chromosomes: 2n = 48, NP = 88 (Gustavsson 1971). Genetics studies using mtDNA markers have revealed the existence of two major phylogeographic lineages, the European and the Anatolian (e.g., Ashrafzadeh et al. 2018; Djan et al. 2017; Minoudi et al. 2018). Due to the postglacial spread of *L. europaeus* across the continent and translocations, the species has a low genetic differentiation in Europe, suggesting a high gene flow among populations (Fickel et al. 2005; Hartl et al. 1990, 1993; Mamuris et al. 2001, 2002; Suchentrunk et al. 2000). Nevertheless, rare alleles can be found in the glacial refugal areas (Amoutzias et al. 2016; Suchentrunk et al. 2003).

Hybridization within the genus Lepus has been described, especially between L. europaeus and L. timidus (Conrado zu Baldenstein 1863; Gustavsson 1971; Notini 1941; Thulin et al. 2006). Hybrids are fertile (Schröder et al. 1987) and, in natural populations, are predominantly the result of a unidirectional mating between male L. europaeus and female L. timidus (Levänen et al. 2018a; Thulin and Tegelström 2002). Moreover, limited genetic admixture was found in the contact zone between L. granatensis and L. europaeus in N Spain, despite existing evidences of hybridization being found (Melo-Ferreira et al. 2014). It should be highlighted, however, that the great majority of European hare populations in Spain have massive L. timidus mitochondrial introgression (Alves et al. 2003; Melo-Ferreira et al. 2009, 2014). In fact, ancient and recent introgression between hare species has been detected in many populations, and in several cases it involves the European hare (Alves et al. 2008; Ferreira et al. 2021; Lado et al. 2019; Levänen et al. 2018b; Melo-Ferreira et al. 2012; Suchentrunk et al. 1999; Thulin et al. 2006; Zachos et al. 2010). The report on *L. timidus* transcriptome allows to identify 4.672 putative diagnostic sites between *L. europaeus*, and a subset of 85 random independent single nucleotid polymorphisms (SNPs) which can be valuable to assess population status and monitor hybridization between these two species (Marques et al. 2017). Nevertheless, microsatellites have been shown to be a useful molecular tool for assessing hybridization between *L. europaeus* and *L. timidus* in the Alps (Rehnus and Bollmann 2016; Schenker et al. 2020).

# Life History

#### Reproduction

It remains unclear whether L. europaeus has an estrous cycle (Caillol and Martinet 1983; Caillol et al. 1991b). As in other leporids, ovulation is triggered by copulation and is thus induced and not spontaneous (Martinet 1980). Gestation length is usually 42 days but might last up to 45 days (Sokolov et al. 2009). However, interbirth intervals might be shorter due to superfetation. This phenomenon (see Roellig et al. 2011 for a review) was already described by the Greek philosopher Aristotle in the fourth century BCE (Jennings 2017) and allows females to get fertilized again while pregnant, beginning with day 34 of pregnancy (Caillol and Martinet 1983; Caillol et al. 1991a), and thus to bear two litters of different age in the uterus at the same time. Consequently, interbirth intervals are shorter than gestation length itself. Interbirth intervals can even be as short as 24 (Slamečka and Šebová 1991) or 25 days (Sackmann 1977). The two litters of superfetation were never observed sharing the same of the two uterine horns (Roellig et al. 2011). Although superfetation enables females to produce more young per time (Roellig et al. 2010b), this phenomenon seems to be rather rare in the wild (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1981; Flux 1967a; Horáček and Uher 1965; Lloyd 1968; Möller 1971; Raczyński 1964). Higher probability of superfetation in captivity might be due to improved body condition of female hares, permanent presence of a male during pregnancy, and unlimited availability of highquality food (Hediger 1948; Martinet et al. 1970). While discussing superfetation, it is worth notifying that males produce a substance that reduces the sperm motility, thus enabling them to survive for a longer time (at least 36 days according to Martinet and Raynaud 1972).

Reproductive pattern of L. europaeus is quite variable across the distribution range, whereas reproduction is restricted to spring and summer months in C, E, and N Europe (e.g., Lincoln 1974; Möller 1971; Stieve 1952; Raczyński 1964). Irrespective of this general pattern, sporadic winter reproduction has been found all over the distribution range, e.g., E Austria (Schai-Braun et al. 2020), but is more likely in oceanic climates (e.g., Hackländer et al. 2011 for Belgium; Hewson and Taylor 1975 for Scotland) and in the Mediterranean range (Antoniou et al. 2008 for Greece). In line with this, the pattern of annual testicular activity in males varies between study sites (e.g., Blottner et al. 2000; Eskens et al. 1999; Štrbenc et al. 2003).

Where leverets can be found in all months, number of litters is larger but mean litter size is smaller. In areas without reproduction in autumn/ winter, mean litter size is larger but number of litters small (Flux 1981a; Sokolov et al. 2009). Therefore, number of litters per female and year varies from 2 (Kolosov and Bakeev 1947 in Sokolov et al. 2009) to 5 in C Europe (Möller 1976; Petrusewicz 1970; Pielowski 1976a; Rieck 1956a) in the wild, and up to 6 in captivity with unnatural photoperiod (Martinet 1976) or with superfetation (Slamečka and Šebová 1991). The number of litters per female in S or NW Europe, where reproductive pause is less pronounced or even absent (see above), remains unclear, however might be larger than 5.

In areas with reproductive pause (and thus climatic differences between seasons), litter size at the beginning and at the end of the breeding period is smaller than in the middle (Lincoln 1974; Raczyński 1964). Litter size has been described between 1 and 6 individuals in the

wild (Pielowski 1976a). However, although reproductive pattern varies across the distribution range, yearly reproductive output per female is similar across the distribution range with 10 leverets per female and year (Flux 1981a). Despite that, the average reproductive output of adult females in a population might reach 13 leverets per year (Schai-Braun et al. 2020; Velek and Semizorova 1976 in Pépin 1989). Maximum number of placental scars per female and year is 22 (Bray 1998; Schai-Braun et al. 2020). The vast amount of studies on litter size and number of litters per year have to be interpreted in the light of female age and body condition as well as reproductive pattern. As a general characteristic, Schai-Braun et al. (2021b) showed that: i) Heavier females have heavier litters at birth, ii) in summer and spring, total litter mass is larger than in winter, and iii) at the end of lactation, the litters of multiparous females are heavier than those of primiparous females.

One has to bear in mind that differences between results on reproductive performance in *L. europaeus* might be due to methodological differences as nearly all studies are based on counting corpora lutea, placental scars or embryos/fetuses in hares that were killed or found dead (but see Göritz et al. 2001 for ultrasound analysis in hares caught in the wild). Differences between litter size at birth and prepartum might be due to prenatal or early postnatal mortality. In fact, a litter size larger than the maximum of 6 (Pielowski 1976a) has been reported, but only prepartum (up to 10 in Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1981 and even 13 young in von Thüngen 1878 in Zörner 1981).

Prenatal mortality might reach up to 90% depending on climate, season, and female age or body condition (Lincoln 1974; Raczyński 1964). Prenatal mortality includes failed implantation of fertilized eggs, resorption of embryos, and death of fetuses. This late stage of prenatal mortality leads to stillbirths of some or all leverets of a litter. In rare cases, mummified leverets can be found in a female body cavity, i.e., outside the uterus (Zörner 1981).

The proportion of reproducing females in a population depends on age, body condition, and

health status of females (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1981; Ciberej 1993; Schai-Braun et al. 2021b). In adult females, proportion of reproducing individuals is increasing from winter to summer (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1981; Möller 1976). Within 1 year, between 85 and 100% of adult females reproduce (Schai-Braun et al. 2019). Reproductive senescence is reached between 4 and 6.3 years (Schai-Braun et al. 2021b) and is accompanied by pathological alterations in the uterus (Bensinger et al. 2000; Hackländer et al. 2001; Šebová 1991).

Subadults are usually fertile with an age of 4–6 months, with some variation due to time of birth (Caillol et al. 1992; Lincoln and MacKinnon 1976; Möller 1976; Pépin 1977; Slamečka and Šebová 1991): Hares born later in the year and dwelling in areas with reproductive pause in autumn have a delayed puberty for several months, and those females reach sexual maturity at an age of 9-15 months (Sokolov et al. 2009). In moderate to warm climates, hares might take part in reproduction already in the year of birth, although with lower leveret survival (Schai-Braun et al. 2021b). The youngest female to become pregnant was 67 days old, however in captivity (Schai-Braun et al. 2021b). Bray (1998) reported that 14% of the reproducing females in S France were less than 12 months. Toward the N and NE ranges, the proportion of reproductive young of the year diminishes (Averianov et al. 2003). Belova (1987 in Sokolov et al. 2009) did not find any female younger than 12 months reproducing in the Baltic region.

#### Growth

Prenatal growth is sigmoidal with a maximum growth rate between week 3 and 4 prepartum (Hackländer et al. 2003; Roellig et al. 2010a). Hares produce precocial young, i.e., leverets are relatively mature at birth, with open eyes and ears and fur (for camouflage). Note that hares give birth in forms above ground. Birth weight of European hare leverets depends on litter size and ranges between 40 (Martinet et al. 1970) and 192 g (Zörner 1981), with larger individuals in

smaller litters. Crown-rump lengths of newborn European hares range between 90 and 140 mm, averaging 115 mm (Broekhuizen and Martinet 1979; Štěrba 1981). Young are suckled for a period of 11 (Notini 1941) to 60 days (Sokolov et al. 2009), depending on litter size, season (ambient temperature, food availability), and gestational status of the mother. There is an obvious trend that lactation length is longer in harsher environments as highest values are reported from the N and E of Europe.

Females provide a milk rich in fat (at least 20%, Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1980; Hackländer et al. 2002b; Kučera 1991), with a comparably high content of long-chain monounsaturated fatty acids (Demarne et al. 1978; Lhuillery et al. 1984). Fatty acid composition depends on time of breeding (Valencak et al. 2009). Fat content might be lower (down to about 15%) in suboptimal habitats (Hackländer et al. 2002b) or when fed a low-fat diet in captivity (Lhuillery et al. 1984; Martinet and Demarne 1984). Milk intake has three phases with an increase until day 12, a plateau until day 22, and a decrease until day 30 (Lhuillery et al. 1984). The change of milk teeth starts in week 2 of life (Arkhipchuk 1983 in Sokolov et al. 2009) and is terminated in the fourth week of life. Between an age of 7 and 15 days, solid food is consumed by leverets (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1976; Cooper 1970; Hackländer et al. 2002a; Lhuillery et al. 1984; Sackmann 1977). Daily weight gain postpartum is highest between day 20 and 80 and ranges between 22.5 and 32.5 g  $d^{-1}$ . Leverets increase their body weight 8.5-fold within 35 days (Hackländer et al. 2002a) in a sigmoidal growth curve (Pielowski 1971a; Pilarska 1969). Usually, leverets are no longer provided with milk when body weight approaches 1000 g (Flux 1967a).

European hares reach adult body size at about 8 months, with some variability due to environmental factors mentioned above. Body weights still increase until the age of 4 years (Pielowski 1971a). The skull increases in some parameters throughout life, at least in hunted populations (Caboń-Raczyńska 1964b) where maximum life span is shorter than in nonhunted or captive populations. Sex ratio at birth is close to 1:1 and independent of female body mass at mating, season of birth, female age, diet quality or a female's individual reproductive history (Schai-Braun et al. 2021b). The balanced sex ratio remains in the adult population (Frylestam 1979; Jezierski 1965; Misiorowska et al. 2014; Rieck 1953; Semizorová 1982; Zörner 1981), i.e., mortality rate is only slightly affected by sex (Hušek et al. 2015; Marboutin and Hansen 1998; Marboutin and Péroux 1995). Deviations from a sex ratio of 1:1 in adults are discussed in the light of potential effects of sampling (hunting) method and seasonal effects (Möller 1975; Pielowski and Raczyński 1976; Szederei 1959; Zörner 1981).

#### Survival

In adults, survival rate is depending on study site and year and averages to about 50% (Broekhuizen 1979; Kovács 1983; Pépin 1987; Petrusewicz 1970; Pielowski 1971b). Adult survival is slightly higher in males than in females (Marboutin and Hansen 1998; Marboutin and Péroux 1995), but independent of age (Broekhuizen 1979; Kovács 1983; Petrusewicz 1970). Maximum age reported is 12.5 years in the wild (Pielowski 1971b).

Most leverets die within the early stage of life (Karp and Gehr 2020) leading to very low survival rates of young of the year ranging between 5% (Schai-Braun et al. 2020) and 56% (Abildgård et al. 1972). Averianov et al. (2003) reviewed that juvenile survival rate of 25% is the average. In line with this, the proportion of subadults in the autumnal hunting bag varies predominantly according to juvenile survival. In long-term examinations of game bags, the average proportion of hares with Stroh's sign (Stroh 1931) ranges between 10 and 70% (e.g., Ahrens et al. 1993; Eskens et al. 1999).

Reasons for low survival rates in leverets are predominantly adverse weather, predation, and agricultural activities. Unfavorable weather conditions, especially low temperatures and high precipitation in late spring and early summer (Beuković et al. 2013; Hackländer et al. 2001; Karp and Gehr 2020), are hard on leverets as they rely on their own thermoregulatory capacities (Hackländer et al. 2002a) and are not protected by their mother when there is rain, cold wind, or wet snow (see "Parental Care"). Apart from that, leveret survival will decrease in years with summer droughts (Bresiński and Chlewski 1976), as females might be unable to provide enough milk through food processing. In line with that, adverse weather is associated with lower hare abundances and hunting bags (Eiberle and Matter 1982; Rödel and Dekker 2012; Siivonen 1956). Unfavorable weather decreases also adult body condition (Caboń-Raczyńska 1974) and might lead to reduced reproductive performance, too.

Leveret survival might be negatively affected in areas of high predator abundance and/or a lack of protecting vegetation (Knauer et al. 2010; Reynolds and Tapper 1995; Schmidt et al. 2004). Predators range from small mustelids, like the least weasel (*Mustela nivalis*), to wolf (*Canis lupus*), and from small birds of prey and Corvidae to eagle owls (*Bubo bubo*) (Hell and Soviš 1997; Pielowski 1993). Smaller predators prey on leverets while larger ones can kill adults. Survival rate in adult hares is less affected by predation, except for individuals in bad condition (Severtsov et al. 2017).

Mortality causes include also agricultural activities like mowing of meadows, use of weeder in cereal crop fields, etc. (e.g., Durdík 1981; Kałuziński and Pielowski 1976; Kittler 1979), and road kills (e.g., Haerer et al. 2001; Heigl et al. 2016; Reichholf 1981; Roedenbeck and Voser 2008). Pépin (1986) demonstrated that losses by agricultural activities might have more negative impact on leveret survival than adverse weather conditions. Last, but not least, in all age classes, diseases can significantly contribute to mortality rates (see "Parasites and Diseases").

# Habitat and Diet

#### Habitat

The European hare lives above ground yearround. Originally dwelling in steppe habitats, forest steppes, and open areas in the forest zone, *L. europaeus* followed humans on their range expansion during the Neolithic revolution from SE Europe north- and westward, where the settlers opened the landscape for agriculture (Huber 1973; Lado et al. 2018). European hares can now be found predominantly in arable and pastural landscapes, but also in open woodland, moorland, heathland, or salt marshes. Apart from that, they inhabit also parks and airfields. L. europaeus live from sea level up to 2800 m above sea (Huber 1973). Deep and loose snow cover (Sokolov et al. 2009), pastures with livestock (Lundström-Gilliéron and Schlaepfer 2003; Lush et al. 2014), and the proximity of roads (Roedenbeck and Voser 2008) are avoided. However, hares tolerate anthropogenic structures and can be found in cities, too (e.g., Köhler 2008; Mayer and Sunde 2020b).

Hares prefer areas rich in structure providing food and shelter all year round (Pavliska et al. 2018). The distribution of food and cover is of particular importance. At night, open land with low and growing vegetation is preferred for food intake; during the day, protected areas are necessary as resting places (Neumann et al. 2011; Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2014). The day rest areas can be integrated in the nocturnal grazing area but can also be outside the latter.

Arable land is preferred over pastures (McLaren et al. 1997; Vaughan et al. 2003). However, if cereal fields are very compact making it nearly impossible for hares to penetrate, Hewson (1977) and Rühe (1999) showed that hares use only the field edges. Most important for hares is good visibility, at least for the active period during the night (Bresiński 1976, 1983). In line with this, the expanding maize cultivation in Europe leads to an increasing proportion of arable land unsuitable for hares (Mayer and Sunde 2020a; Sliwinski et al. 2019). The same is true for other biomass energy crops like Miscanthus (Petrovan et al. 2017) or other tall vegetation (Schrama et al. 2015). Dense thickets of trees and shrubs are avoided at night but are important features of a hare's home range during the day, especially in arable land in winter (Bresiński and Chlewski 1976; Matuszewski 1981; Pielowski 1966). In line with that, in arable land nonfarmed features such as hedges (Cardarelli et al. 2011; Pépin and Angibault 2007; Tapper and

Barnes 1986) and fallow land (Cardarelli et al. 2011; Schai-Braun et al. 2013; Smith et al. 2004) are positively selected for shelter during the day. Moreover, field edges are preferred, especially during the inactive phase (day), both for leverets (Voigt and Siebert 2019) and adults (Lewandowski and Nowakowski 1993; Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2014). In the absence of higher vegetation, hares prefer ploughed fields in winter for the resting period (Pépin 1986).

As in other leporids, home range size has a positive allometry with body size (Swihart 1986). Besides that, home range size is affected by habitat heterogeneity, average field size, hare density, season, sex, and, of course, the used method for its estimation (e.g., VHF vs. GPS telemetry, MCP vs. Kernel, length of the observation period, and sample size; for discussion, see Marboutin 1997; Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2014). Usually, males have larger home ranges than females (Belova 1987 in Sokolov et al. 2009; Homolka 1985; Reitz and Leonard 1994; Schneider 1977; Zörner 1981), and males are more active during the night (Zaccaroni et al. 2013). These differences can be explained by reproductive strategies and reproductive behavior: During lactation, females stay near their litter and thus have smaller home ranges. Males, on the other hand, can maximize their lifetime reproductive success by mating with as many as possible females resulting in a higher activity and home range.

Occasionally, the daytime resting place and the nocturnal feeding grounds can be several hundred meters away, e.g., when feeding sites are not providing shelter and a nearby forest is used as a retreat during the day, leading to large home ranges (Homolka 1985). Home range sizes thus depend on the distances between shelter (during the day) and food patches (during the night). Hares travel up to 15 km while feeding in one night (Flux 1967b). In areas with large fields and low variety of crops, annual home range sizes can exceed 330 ha (Pielowski 1972). As hares are nocturnal, the daytime home ranges are much smaller than those at night (Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2014). In contrast, if heterogeneity of habitat is high, home ranges do not differ much between day and night and are rather small (Kunst et al. 2001; Lewandowski and Nowakowski 1993; Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2014).

The home range of an individual is neither a rigid spatial unit nor a defended territory. As hares do not use self-dug burrow systems like rabbits, their space use is quite flexible and is affected by habitat quality (availability of food, cover, mating partners, and predation pressure). Consequently, home range sizes are larger when observing hares for a longer period and when habitats are changing over the year (as they do especially in arable land). Hares move the center of their home range rapidly during cereal harvest periods (Marboutin and Aebischer 1996; Ullmann et al. 2020; but see Reitz and Leonard 1994), but only in landscapes of low heterogeneity (Schai-Braun et al. 2014). Cereal harvest seems to not affect the stress level of hares if landscape heterogeneity is high (Cybulska et al. 2020). Fields might be used after harvesting as they might provide food and short vegetation (Ullmann et al. 2020). The hare's plasticity in space use leads to comparably low adult mortality rates associated to harvest (Reitz and Leonard 1993).

Some studies showed a high site fidelity of hares (e.g., Bray et al. 2007; Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1982; Hewson and Taylor 1968), but this can be found only in optimal habitats with high heterogeneity and low levels of disturbance (Avril et al. 2012). Interestingly, *L. europaeus* has an impressive "home instinct," i.e., translocated hares might come back to their original home range, occasionally even up to distances of 464 km (Jezierski 1967).

Disturbances through agricultural activities (Ullmann et al. 2020), hunting (Avril et al. 2014), natural events like floodings (Schrama et al. 2015), or harsh winter conditions might lead to migrations (Sokolov et al. 2009). Food shortages in winter might even lead to mass migrations of several thousand individuals (Fortunatow s.a. and Neschenzew s.a. in Angermann 1972).

While some studies suggested that hares are generally philopatric (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1982; Pielowski 1972) and show limited dispersal behavior, Bray et al. (2007) reported a dispersal rate of 43% and a median dispersal distance of

209 m for philopatric individuals and 1615 m for dispersers (maximum 17.35 km). Natal dispersal starts with sexual maturity (between 4–6 months), and males disperse more frequently than females (Bray et al. 2007). In sum, juvenile dispersion is more pronounced in habitats with low quality and low hare density.

#### Diet

L. europaeus is an herbivore using cultivated and grasses (predominantly crops, weeds, Poaceae). Among weeds in particular species of Asteraceae, Brassicaceae, Fabaceae, and Plantaginaceae are consumed (Brüll 1976; Chapuis 1990; Homolka 1982, 1987; Jennings et al. 2006; Reichlin et al. 2006). In winter, European hares feed also on seeds, buds, twigs, bark, and other woody parts of plants (Frylestam 1986; Rödel et al. 2004; Sokolov et al. 2009), especially when the ground vegetation is covered by snow. Much has been published on plant species used by hares. Information on plant use and preference of plants is of course depending on availability, which is depending on study site. Hence, it is not surprising that the numerous studies differ in their results. Sampling size is quite important, too, as there is a huge inter-individual variation within study sites (Katona and Altbäcker 2002). However, while the food spectrum can include several 100 plant species in one area, the preferred plants are very few. Hence, the European hare has been described as a picky herbivore (Schai-Braun et al. 2015): Of the 349 plant taxa identified in a study site in E Austria, hares used 47 taxa and only 10 were positively selected. Food selection is partly driven by energy content, i.e., crude fat and crude protein, whereas crude fiber is avoided (Schai-Braun et al. 2015; Smith et al. 2005b). While the average crude fat content of food plants for herbivorous mammals is approximately 3.5%, a hare's gut can contain more than 30% fat (Popescu et al. 2011). Dietary fat is important for hares in two ways: first, because reproductive performance is higher in females with access to food rich in fat (Hackländer et al. 2002b) as leverets will have

access to a fattier milk. Second, fat serves as source of water when this nutrient is metabolized. Therefore, a positive selection for fatty plant parts is to be expected for a mammal deriving from steppe habitats (Kronfeld and Shkolnik 1996). In line with that, water requirements are usually covered by food metabolization (Kummer 1970), but direct water uptake by hares or feeding of snow is possible (Sokolov et al. 2009) and has been often described for hares living in captivity and fed with dry food (e.g., Landois 1885).

As all lagomorphs, *L. europaeus* uses feces to increase nutrient uptake (Hirakawa 2001), both hard pellets (coprophagy) in times of food shortage (Flux 1981b) and – more importantly – soft pellets (cecotrophy). The cecum is designed as a large fermentation chamber in which bacterial digestive processes of nondigestible fiber and an enrichment of the intestinal contents with proteins and vitamins take place. Leporids incapable of consuming cecotrophs show a protein deficiency (Hirakawa 2001).

# Behavior

#### **Activity Pattern**

The European hare is mostly active at night (Rühe and Hohmann 2004; Tapper and Barnes 1986). However, in spring and summer hares are more active during the day due to mating activities and shorter nights, respectively (Holley 2001; Homolka 1986; Schai-Braun et al. 2012; Sokolov et al. 2009). In general, the activity pattern is affected by habitat quality, hare density, and disturbances, e.g., by agricultural activities or predation (Pépin and Cargnelutti 1994; Schneider 1978). When active, hares spend most of the time for foraging, between 11 (Flux 1981b) and 14 hours (Homolka 1986), usually in an open area with proper visibility and a vegetation height between 1 and 25 cm (Mayer et al. 2018; Naldi et al. 2020).

During the resting phase, hares use forms, i.e., self-scratched, flat hollows in the ground or simply depressions in higher vegetation (Schneider 1978). The dimensions of these forms are 35–50 cm length and 13–27 cm width (De Vos and Dean

1967; Sokolov et al. 2009) and thus resemble the size of a resting hare. They are deeper (up to 29 cm) in open areas with stronger winds (Sokolov et al. 2009). Usually, hares have their face directed to the open area (Sokolov et al. 2009) or against the main wind direction (De Vos and Dean 1967). In times of heavy snow fall, hares might even dig holes or burrows into the snow (De Vos and Dean 1967; Sokolov et al. 2009) or allow snow to cover them (De Vos and Dean 1967). Formozov (1929 in Angermann 1972) reported that hares dig burrows into sandy soil. However, digging burrows remains an exception.

Forms are reused occasionally (De Vos and Dean 1967). Hares enter these forms usually by approaching them using "backtracking," i.e., at dawn they move to their daylight range, sit and groom for some minutes at a spot, and then use the same track back to enter the form (Flux 1981b; Koenen 1956). This behavior is interpreted to confuse terrestrial predators. In their forms, they mostly stay immobile relying on their camouflage. The eyes are fully closed when sleeping. Even in deep rest hares are alert and flush full speed out of their forms when in danger. Flight distance is shorter, when protection is given (e.g., in high vegetation); temperatures are higher (danger of overheating while running) and when the soil is muddy (Jerzierski 1973) as mud will stick to the furred paws and thus impede full speed running. While at rest in their forms, L. europaeus takes up cecotrophs, starting around 2-3 hours before noon (Kummer 1970; Schneider 1978; Watson and Taylor 1955) directly from the anus (this behavior looks like grooming the anogenital region). Hence, a hare killed before noon will contain a large proportion of fine food particles (less than 0.25 mm length, Naumova et al. 2015) in the stomach.

#### Locomotion

European hares have different locomotor patterns. The "hobbling" is the calm, normal, and typical gait. The "escape" is a hopping accelerated to a gallop with jumps creating a floating phase without contact to the ground. When a predator comes close, hares speed up by 15.84 km  $h^{-1}$  (Taylor

2017). Maximum speed has been reported by Rieck (1953) to be up to 80 km  $h^{-1}$ . Hares can jump distances up to 2.7 m long, and 3 m high (Kummer 1970; Rieck 1953). Hence, L. europaeus can jump over fences of considerable height or even climb over them. In addition, they can do their typical zigzag escape trick (Kuznetsov et al. 2017). Several other locomotor patterns have been described for L. europaeus: When "slipping," individual steps are only carried out with the front legs until the body is more or less stretched out. The hind legs are then jerked forward. "Tip-toeing" is a hopping or walking around, where hare straightens up on all four legs and with largely stretched hind legs. This is probably an impressing position when meeting conspecifics or predators. The European hare can swim distances of more than 1 km (Schneider 1978).

#### **Communication and Signals**

Numerous ways of intra- and interspecific communication have been described (Schneider 1981). Among all senses, hearing and smell are most important for hares. As eyes are positioned laterally, hares cannot see clearly but are enabled to detect moving objects around them.

Various fragrances produced in special scent glands are used for individual recognition, for individual orientation in its home range, and as a sign of presence for conspecifics. Apart from that, scents play an important role in mating behavior. Scent glands are in the chin (submandibular gland), the cheek, close to the eyes (Harderian gland), inguinal area (on both sides of the genital opening), and anal region. There are no glands on the paws. Age and hormonal status influence the size of all scent glands (Zörner 1981).

By rubbing against branches, poles, or stones, hares bring out the secretions of the chin gland. The secretions of all head glands are spread over the body with the feet when cleaning the fur. The secretion of the inguinal glands accumulates in hairless skin pockets that are located in the groins. It can also spread over the wider genital area with yellowish crust formation. Inguinal glands are larger in female hares than in males (Mykytowycz 1966).

Schneider (1978) interprets a special type of urination (when the back of the body is lifted and the tail is folded up) as marking behavior. In addition, urine spraying aimed at conspecifics is also observed in the field hare.

Acoustic communication plays a subordinate role in the European hare. A "plaintive" is expressed when hares are in a desperate situation, e.g., when caught by a predator. This call, similar to a bloodcurdling human baby cry, might serve as a warning signal or call for help to conspecific. A "grumble" has been described in various situations, such as fighting or copulating. "Grinding teeth" is interpreted as a threatening or fearful sound, often produced by leverets when disturbed (Hediger 1948). Schneider (1978) also describes a gentle contact sound of leverets before suckling and a warning knocking with the hind legs.

#### Social Behavior

The European hare lives predominantly solitary, especially at low densities, otherwise in pairs (during mating or mate guarding), or in groups. Grouping is common in spring (Flux 2009), when peak mating starts. At food shortage, hares might gather at food patches, where unusual hierarchies might arise (Lindlöf 1978; Monaghan and Metcalfe 1985; Sokolov et al. 2009). In addition, hares are observed in loose groups at high densities, especially at night during feeding (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1982; Marboutin and Péroux 1999). In general, hares are not territorial, and thus there is a high degree of tolerance toward conspecifics, even from the same sex, when food is not limited (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1982). When two hares meet, they sniff each other's body and nose. Real fights are rare, even during the breeding season (Schneider 1977), but might get severe and even lethal in captivity where the opponents cannot separate from each other (Landois 1885). The "boxing" behavior, when two individuals stand upright on their hind legs and beat the conspecific's head and fore feet, is usually a fight between a female and a male interpreted as a test of mating partners or preventing males from mating (Holley and Greenwood 1984; Schneider 1978). However, male-male boxing has been reported, too (Flux 2009; Schneider 1977).

# **Mating Behavior**

In spring, hares show a lively mating behavior in groups, even during the day ("March madness," Lincoln 1974). These games include chasing, immediate stoppings, impressing positions, sniffing, urinating, and boxing. Fragrances that convey sexual attraction and individual identity play a major role in this, but also visual stimuli through the ears and tail, both rich in contrast, are important (Schneider 1976). During fights, tufts of hair might fly through the air (Landois 1885). Especially younger females in intensive chases might suffer from severe injuries on their back from male scratches. Copulations take place in segregating couples only after extensive chases and fights. Females ready for copulations sit on their fore legs with erased back (called "lordosis" posture). Belova (1987 in Sokolov et al. 2009) described that lordosis lasts for 6 seconds, mounting by the male 2 seconds and the actual copulation between 5 and 30 seconds. The female terminates the copulation by lifting its hind feet and throwing away the male (Schneider 1977). Usually several matings follow in continued mating runs or in the same place (Schneider 1977; Sokolov et al. 2009). Males show mate guarding and accompany a female after copulation for some days (Flux 1981b; Schneider 1976). Therefore, one can observe a female in her form and a male sitting next to her in alert mode. Competitors are expelled when approaching the couple closer than 3–4 m (Bock 2020).

#### Parental Care

Leverets are born in the morning (Belova 1987 in Sokolov et al. 2009). The birth takes place in a form, often in a protected and dry place. Usually females do not provide any special preparation of the site, but at cold weather females cover their young with hay (Sokolov et al. 2009). Young-borns have open eyes upon birth and can move immediately after birth, although just in a crawling mode (Hediger 1948). Soon after birth, or after 3-5 days at the latest, leverets separate from each other and hide near the suckling area (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1976, 1980; Pielowski 1976a; Zörner 1981). Usually females visit the young only once a day, shortly after sunset, for two to six minutes for suckling (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1976, 1980; Landois 1885; Martinet and Demarne 1984). The female and the suckled young are sitting opposite each other, with the female being vigilant (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1976; Kummer 1970). Leverets accept several feeding events per day, if provided (Cooper 1970). According to Broekhuizen and Maaskamp (1976), the young get active before the female arrives and gather at the suckling spot which is the birth place. The female approaches the suckling spot always from the same direction, and leverets come toward approaching females with increasing age. Thus, the suckling spot therefore moves from the birthplace toward the direction from which the female reaches the suckling spot every night (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1976). Young hares do not recognize their mother by olfactory cues (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1980; Martinet and Demarne 1984; Stavy et al. 1985), explaining that they might suckle on other lactating females by chance (Landois 1885; Sokolov et al. 2009). After suckling, a female licks up the leveret urine and finishes the nursing by jumping away (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1980). Thereafter, leverets separate themselves again waiting to be suckled 24 h later.

#### Antipredator Behavior

To avoid being killed by predators, juvenile hares mainly remain on their camouflage and press themselves to the ground staying immobile until the danger has gone (Voigt and Siebert 2019). When disturbed, leverets might grumble or grind their teeth, sometimes even attack the opponent with their teeth (Hediger 1948) or their claws of the forefeet. The adult hare relies both on its camouflage as well as on its locomotor capacities. Hares remain motionless when resting in their forms. When flushed, they use full speed (with ears pressed to the neck), zig-zag running, jumping, swimming through rivers, or even running through a herd of grazing cattle to escape predation (Sokolov et al. 2009). This flight mode is shown when chased by terrestrial as well as aerial predators. In severe danger, hares might use burrows from other species (Angermann 1972; Sokolov et al. 2009) or holes (even in low trees, Zörner 1981). To confuse terrestrial predators, hares use backtracking (Flux 1981b; Koenen 1956) or large jumps to the side (Sokolov et al. 2009). When flushed, hares often run in loops with variable diameter and come back to their form.

Although red foxes (Vulpes vulpes) are the main predator for European hares (see "Population Ecology"), this is not generally true for adults. Red foxes might kill adults only by stalking (when vegetation is high). In habitats with good visibility, hares approached by a red fox will show alertness by standing upright on the hind feet. Note that a hare's nails can be dangerous to predators. Therefore, red foxes do not come as close as 30 m to hares when they are in alert mode (Holley 1992). However, red fox presence affects hare space use. Hares use edge habitat more when red foxes are present (Weterings et al. 2019), tend to feed on patches of lower food quality (Weterings et al. 2018), and are more vigilant and less feeding (Mayer et al. 2020b). Living in groups reduces predation risk in hares, and the frequency of individual vigilant behavior is lower in groups of hares than in individually grazing hares (Broekhuizen and Maaskamp 1982; Marboutin and Aebischer 1996), explaining why hares feed in groups, if possible. Single hares reduce activity in bright moon nights, when red foxes are more active (Viviano et al. 2021). Hence, red foxes might have not only direct effects on hares by predation but also indirect effects by creating a landscape of fear.

# **Parasites and Diseases**

Numerous diseases have been described for European hares (reviewed by, e.g., Boch and Schneidawind 1988; Frölich et al. 2001; Sokolov et al. 2009), many of them with severe effects on population dynamics. Parasite infestations can reach epidemic status and in some years can cause large losses in European hare populations. Among ectoparasites, several species of ticks (Ixodida, most importantly *Ixodes ricinus* and *I. reticulatus*) and fleas (Neoptera, e.g., Chaetopsylla trichosa) have been described. The ectoparasite load usually increases from N to S. Among the infectious diseases (often associated with ectoparasites), hares might suffer from pseudotuberculosis (Yersinia pseudotuberculosis, e.g., Bartling et al. 2004), pasteurellosis (Pasteurella multocida, e.g., Haerer et al. 2001), staphylomycosis (Staphylococcus sp., e.g., Tomaso et al. 2018), brucellosis (Brucella sp., e.g., Gyuranecz et al. 2011), tularemia (Pasteurella tularensis, e.g., Rijks et al. 2013), toxoplasmosis (Toxoplasma gondii, e.g., Sedlák et al. 2000), and leishmaniasis (Leishmania infantum, e.g., Ruiz-Fons et al. 2013; Tsokana et al. 2016). Note that some of these infectious diseases are serious zoonoses (Tsokana et al. 2020), making hares' sanitary surveillance a key factor in the One Health approach.

Among endoparasites, various nematode (e.g., Nematodirus aspinosus), cestode (e.g., Dicrocoelium dendriticum), and trematode species have been reported. Endoparasitic diseases include lung strongylosis (Protostrongylus commutatus, e.g., Pajerský et al. 1992), stomach strongylosis (Trichostrongylus retortaeformis, e.g., Soveri and Valtonern 1983), and sarcosporidiosis; however, coccidiosis (Eimeria sp., e.g., Posautz et al. 2015) is the most abundant and important one. Disease prevalence fluctuates between years and differs between study sites, age classes, and sex (Lamarque et al. 1996; Rieck 1956b), partly explained by density and weather effects.

In the recent decades, emerging viral diseases through a calicivirus from the genus *Lagovirus* caused severe declines in hare populations (Salvioli et al. 2017). The first calicivirus infection in *L. europaeus* was described in the early 1980s (Gavier-Widén and Mörner 1991) associated with a disease called European Brown Hare Syndrome (EBHS). This calicivirus (EBHSV) is closely related to the virus causing Rabbit Hemorrhagic Disease (RHD), a fatal hepatitis in European rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*, Frölich and Lavazza 2008). Hare populations dramatically decline after an EBHS outbreak, especially in low-density populations, where the virus persists longer and the proportion of young individuals (which are less affected) is rather low (Paci et al. 2011). The critical density according to these authors is 8–15 hares 100 ha<sup>-1</sup>. In the early 2010s, a new calicivirus (RHDV2) spilled over from European rabbits to European hares (Velarde et al. 2017). The rapid mutation of the caliciviruses will be a challenging problem for many hare populations (Le Gall-Reculé et al. 2017), not only in Europe.

Besides this, also the myxoma virus can jump from European rabbits to *L. europaeus* (reviewed in Barlow et al. 2014). Myxomatosis in European hares is usually associated with high prevalence in sympatrically living European rabbit populations (Wibbelt and Frölich 2005).

The European hare is a suitable bioindicator for the local or regional distribution of some agrochemicals and other environmental chemicals (Kleinmann and Wang 2017; Topping et al. 2016). A hare's pesticide uptake has been described through feeding or grooming after pesticide overspray (Mayer et al. 2020a). There are numerous studies on hunted hares regarding residues of heavy metals, pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, or microplastics (e.g., Bukovjan et al. 1997; Hornek-Gausterer et al. 2021; Massányi et al. 2003; Nösel and Ahrens 1996; Petrović et al. 2014; Škrivanko et al. 2008; Wajdzik et al. 2017), and even experimental applications in captive individuals (Črep and Švický 1993). However, no clear connections between residue findings and population dynamics have been demonstrated yet (e.g., Edwards et al. 2000; Stubbe and Stubbe 1997), although these contaminants might be detrimental for hares (Linšak et al. 2013; Nováková et al. 1976; Orthwein 1984a, b) and reach values that might be dangerous for humans consuming the affected individuals (Slamečka et al. 2012). Agrochemicals had also no effects on the reproductive performance of a hare population, both for females (Hackländer et al. 2001) or males (Blottner et al. 2001).

# Population Ecology

#### **Recruitment and Density**

The density of hares in steppe environments is low, approximately 2 hares  $100 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ . Agricultural activity, especially on fertile, but dry, soil types, lead to higher densities (Sokolov et al. 2009). Population density might reach up to 339 hares  $100 \text{ ha}^{-1}$  in optimal conditions, as it was observed on a Danish island without agriculture, hunting, and terrestrial predators (Abildgård et al. 1972). Habitat quality influences fecundity, (juvenile) survival, thus yearly recruitment and population density. Across the distribution range, spring densities of 1 (Kilias and Ackermann 2001; Rühe et al. 2000) to 156 hares 100  $ha^{-1}$  (Klansek 1996) are described (reviewed in Averianov et al. 2003). As recruitment might double spring numbers, autumn densities can reach up to 275 hares 100 ha<sup>-1</sup> (Klansek 1996).

Population growth depends predominantly on juvenile survival rate (see "Survival"), which varies between study sites (habitat quality, predation pressure, and climate) and year (e.g., Frylestam 1979; Haerer et al. 2001). Leveret mortality is high and exceeds nearly 65% within the first month (Voigt and Siebert 2020). Until autumn, the overall postpartum mortality reaches up to 81% (Ciberej and Kačúr 1991) or even 95% (Schai-Braun et al. 2020). Therefore, the proportion of young of the year in relation to older females in the hunting bag varies between 10% and 70% (e.g., Ahrens et al. 1993; Eskens et al. 1999).

In general, a complex interaction of numerous factors is responsible for hare recruitment and abundance, namely landscape heterogeneity, use (practices), soil type, climate land (or weather), diseases, and predation (Petrov 1976; Pielowski 1981; Smith et al. 2005a). Studies trying to figure out the relevance of each mortality factor reached different results. However, in many studies, land use practices were more important than weather and diseases (Eiberle and Matter 1982; Frölich et al. 2003; Lundström-Gilliéron and Schlaepfer 2003; Reynolds and Tapper 1995; Ristić et al. 2021; Schmidt et al. 2004; Smith et al. 2005a; Weber et al. 2019).

Unfavorable weather associated with high humidity and cold temperatures might increase the proportion of infected hares and thus will allow predators to find more easy prey in hares or make use of carcasses. Impact of predation on yearly recruitment strongly depends on the availability of alternative prey (Goszczyniski et al. 1976; Sokolov et al. 2009). Hence, in the peak of small mammal cycles, young hares are less likely predated (Pegel 1986).

The main predator for European hares in C Europe is the red fox. In Poland, hares formed 12-46% of red fox diet (Goszczyński and Wasilewski 1992; Pielowski 1976b), mainly depending on the yearly variation of alternative prey availability (e.g., voles). Note that impact of red foxes increases after large-scale rabies vaccination (Martini 1983; Nösel and Ahrens 1996; Ponjiger et al. 2019; Spittler 1972). Juveniles are the predominant age class that red foxes prey on. However, up to 50% of adult hare mortality might be attributed to the red fox (Goszczyński and Wasilewski 1992). With respect to this report, it should also be considered that red foxes also use carcasses, e.g., from road kills, and thus (adult) hare mortality and red fox predation are not always linked to each other. According to Goszczyński and Wasilewski (1992), hare biomass in red fox diet was highest in spring (43%), lower in summer (12–15%), and intermediate in winter (28%). This pattern is explained by both leveret availability and vegetation cover. In general, red fox density is negatively correlated with population increase or density of hares (Ahrens 1996; Frölich et al. 2003; Goszczyński and Wasilewski 1992; Pegel 1986; Späth 1989).

#### Interspecific Competition

Where European hares live in sympatry with other species of the genus *Lepus*, they usually outcompete them (Sokolov et al. 2009). With climate change (less snow, increase of arable land use), European hares tend to expand into the range of mountain hares, where they replace

them by direct competition and hybridization (Acevedo et al. 2012; Jansson and Pehrson 2007; Thulin 2003). In addition, introduced *L. europaeus* also outcompete *L. corsicanus* (Angelici and Luiselli 2001); however, they do not interbreed (Mengoni et al. 2015).

Where *L. europaeus* lives in sympatry with rabbits (*O. cuniculus* or *Sylvilagus floridanus*), competition for food and aggressive behavior have been reported (Bertolino et al. 2013; Homo-lka 1987; Kuijper et al. 2004) but are low when both species are at low densities (Flux 2008; Vidus-Rosin et al. 2012). Rabbits depend on their burrow systems and might be dominant over hares within their territories, but this seems to be a rather local phenomenon.

#### **Conservation Status**

The European hare's Red List status has recently been confirmed as "Least Concern" on a global scale (Hackländer and Schai-Braun 2019). It is widespread and abundant across its geographic range. However, especially European populations of L. europaeus declined in the twentieth century (Hackländer and Schai-Braun 2018). Note, that despite numerous studies claiming that the decline started in the 1960s (e.g., Bock 2020; Farkas et al. 2020; Smith et al. 2005a), there is evidence from long-term hunting bag statistics (e.g., Schwenk 1985), that the decline started some decades earlier, namely with the beginning of the agricultural industrialization (early twentieth century). The European hare is listed under Appendix III of the Bern Convention in Europe (as "Lepus capensis (europaeus)," Council of Europe 1979). Although the Red List status in Europe and the European Union is "Least Concern" (Temple and Terry 2007), several European countries (e.g., Austria, Germany, Norway, and Switzerland) have classified L. europaeus as "Near Threatened" or "Threatened" in their national Red Lists (Reichlin et al. 2006). Despite that, in most European countries, densities of European hares are above the density known from steppe habitats where L. europaeus came from prior to their range expansion (see "Current Distribution"). In line with this, lowered densities might not lead to an extinction of the species. Apart from that, there is increasing concern regarding the status of native local populations of this species (Flux and Angermann 1990; Schai-Braun and Hackländer 2016) as restockings for hunting purposes took and take place in several countries including Denmark, France, Greece, Italy, and Spain (Suchentrunk et al. 2006).

#### Management

The European hare is the most important small game species across Europe (Flux and Angermann 1990), despite the recent decline (see "Conservation Status"). Usually, hunting is open in autumn (October-December), occasionally extended to January or February in vineyards or orchards to prevent damage (Suchomel et al. 2019). As the European hare is reproductively active already in December in C Europe, already Kutzer et al. (1976) called for a shorter hunting season. In England and Wales, where European hares are allochthonous, a closed season is absent (Jennings 2017) though claimed for animal welfare reasons (Butterworth et al. 2017). At higher densities, hunters harvest hares with shotguns using drive hunts, often with the help of dogs and stalkers. In high-density areas, falconers might hunt European hares with goshawks (Accipiter gentilis) or golden eagle (Aquila chrysaetos). In addition, single hunt with a small caliber rifle is common. Traditional hunting types in the UK like beagling or hare coursing (hounds tracking hares by sight in arenas) are no longer allowed (Jennings 2017), irrespective of the fact that their impact on hare numbers was low compared to shooting (Stoate and Tapper 1993). However, coursing is still practiced in the Republic of Ireland and beagling in France (Jennings 2017). As hares often run loops when flushed (see "Antipredator Behavior"), hunters with hounds use this behavior by just waiting for the hare at the flushing site while listening to the barking hound chasing the hare on its way back to the form (Hackländer 2011).

Hares are hunted for their meat, which is treated as a delicacy in some areas. The hare meat is low in fat and rich in essential fatty acids (Frunza et al. 2019; Slamečka et al. 1998; Škrivanko et al. 2008; Valencak et al. 2015). Slow stewing or roasting was the most common way of preparing hare meat. A modern trend is toward simple seasoning and grilling (Jennings 2017). In former times, hunted hares were used not only for their meat, but also for their fur to produce felts or fishing flies (Jennings 2017).

A sustainable use is based on monitoring hare abundance or density in spring and autumn (Andrzejewski and Jezierski 1966). Langbein et al. (1999) reviewed appropriate monitoring methods. For counting at night (when hares are active), spotlights (Ahrens et al. 1995; Frylestam 1981; Strauß et al. 2008) or night vision devices (Focardi et al. 2001) are in use. Spring densities and population increase are then used to calculate sustainable harvest rates (Marboutin et al. 2003; Schai-Braun et al. 2019). In areas where night counting is compromised (e.g., high proportion of forest cover), hunting bags have to be checked for age composition before continuing hunting on the same day or later. Evaluating the proportion of young of the year can be done either by Stroh's sign (Stroh 1931) or by determining the dried eye-lens weight (Ciberej et al. 1997; Kovács and Heltay 1981): If proportion of young of the year in the hunting bag is lower than, e.g., 50% (and thus recruitment was weak), hunting should be stopped for the year in that specific area.

The superfactor leading to declining European hare densities is the intensification of agriculture (Lundström-Gilliéron and Schlaepfer 2003; Mayer et al. 2019; Panek 2018; Panek and Kamieniarz 1999; Petrak 1990; Schäfers 1996; Schröpfer and Nyenhuis 1982; Smith et al. 2005a). While the European hare benefitted from extensive agriculture in the past, it is now negatively affected by the intensive use of the cultivated land. One has to distinguish between the reasons for the decline and the measure considered to increase hare populations. To counteract the decline of hare populations in Europe, protected areas (Canova et al. 2020), food supplementation in winter (Matuszewski 1966; Reichlin et al. 2006), habitat improvements (Genghini and Capizzi 2005; Kamieniarz et al. 2013; Meichtry-Stier et al. 2014; Petrovan et al. 2013; Santilli et al. 2014; Schai-Braun et al. 2020; Sliwinski et al. 2019), and predator control (Panek 2013; Reynolds et al. 2010) have been shown to be beneficial, especially by increasing juvenile survival rate. It is clear that habitat improvement will have long-lasting effects (not only for hares), whereas other measures are just fighting the symptoms, though very effectively. Note that habitat improvements have to be planned in a proper way in order to avoid that they act as ecological traps (Hummel et al. 2017). In addition, organic farming is not a beneficial to population growth per se (Santilli and Galardi 2016).

Hare restocking is still a management measure in several hunting sites across Europe (e.g., Cukor et al. 2018; Ferretti et al. 2010; Fischer and Tagand 2012; Misiorowska 2013; Modesto et al. 2011; Spyrou et al. 2013), although mortality rate of translocated individuals is usually very high in the first month and lies between 40% (Misiorowska and Wasilewski 2012) and 79% (Angelici et al. 2000), mainly due to red fox predation (see also Marboutin et al. 1990). Other adverse effects of hare translocations are disease transmissions and genetic introgression (Pierpaoli et al. 1999; Stamatis et al. 2007; Suchentrunk et al. 2006). Translocated hares derive from captive breeding or have an origin from sites with higher hare densities, sometimes several hundred kilometers away from the release site (i.e., from potentially allochthonous populations). They might even come from areas where they have been introduced, like from Argentina and Uruguay (Suchentrunk et al. 2006). Transport and release are debated also in the light of animal welfare (Paci et al. 2006).

# Future Challenges for Research and Management

Clearly, the European hare is the best-studied *Lepus* species in the world with far more than 1000 entries in the modern literature databases. Much of the sources, including leading

monographies, are written in former scientific languages like German, French, or Russian. Other milestone publications are conference proceedings (Myers and McInnes 1981; Pielowski and Pucek 1976). All these literature sources are rarely used by modern researchers as most of the relevant sources from the last century have not been digitalized, yet. Consequently, there are plenty of study repetitions during the last century, making it difficult to keep the overview on the literature regarding European hares. Despite the ongoing repetition of knowledge, there are still some major gaps to fill (see Hackländer et al. 2008). We need basic research both in the field as well as in captive European hare populations. In addition, comprehensive meta-analyses on available literature will help to understand the species' evolution and ecology.

Acknowledgments This chapter is dedicated to my wife Sandra who shares my enthusiasm and love for hares. My dear friend Paulo C. Alves provided numerous valuable comments and suggestions to an earlier draft of the manuscript.

#### References

- Abildgård F, Andersen J, Barndorff-Nielsen O (1972) The hare population (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) of Illumø Island, Denmark. A report on the analysis of data from 1957 to 1970. Dan Rev Game Biol 6:1–32
- Acevedo P, Jiménez-Valverde A, Melo-Ferreira J, Real R, Alves PC (2012) Parapatric species and the implications for climate change studies: a case study on hares in Europe. Glob Change Biol 18:1509–1519
- Ahrens M (1996) Untersuchungen zu Einflussfaktoren auf die Besatzentwicklung bei Feldhasen in verschiedenen Gebieten Sachsen-Anhalts [in German]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 21:229–235
- Ahrens M, Tottewitz F, Gleich E (1993) Zur Altersstruktur von Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778) aus verschiedenen Gebieten Ostdeutschlands [in German]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 18:129–133
- Ahrens M, Goretzkj J, Stubbe C, Tottewitz F, Gleich E, Sparing H (1995) Untersuchungen zur Entwicklung des Hasenbesatzes auf Wittow/Rügen [in German]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 20:191–200
- Alves PC, Ferrand N, Suchentrunk F, Harris DJ (2003) Ancient introgression of *Lepus timidus* mtDNA into *L. granatensis* and *L. europaeus* in the Iberian Peninsula. Mol Phylogen Evol 27:70–80
- Alves PC, Melo-Ferreira J, Freitas H, Boursot P (2008) The ubiquitous mountain hare mitochondria: multiple

introgressive hybridization in hares, genus *Lepus*. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B: Biol Sci 363:2831–2839

- Amoutzias GD, Giannoulis T, Moutou KA, Psarra AM, Stamatis C, Tsipourlianos A, Mamuris Z (2016) SNP identification through transcriptome analysis of the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*): cellular energetics and mother's curse. PLoS One 11:e0159939
- Andersen J, Jensen D (1972) Studies on the European hare XXVIII. The weight of the eye in European hares of known age. Acta Theriol 17:87–92
- Andrzejewski R, Jezierski W (1966) Studies on the European hare. XI. Estimation of population density and attempt to plan the yearly take of hares. Acta Theriol 11:433–448
- Angelici FM, Luiselli L (2001) Conservation problems of the critically endangered Apennine hare *Lepus corsicanus* De Winton 1898, in Italy and Sicily. Oryx 35:245–249
- Angelici FM, Riga F, Boitani L, Luiselli L (2000) Fate of captive-reared brown hares *Lepus europaeus* released at a mountain site in central Italy. Wildl Biol 6:173–178
- Angelone C, Moncunill-Solé B, Kotsakis T (2020) Fossil Lagomorpha (Mammalia) of Italy: systematics and biochronology. Riv It Paleontol Strat 126:157–187
- Angermann R (1972) Die Hasentiere [in German]. In: Altevogt R, Angermann R, Dathe H, Grzimek B, Herter K, Müller-Using D, Rahm U, Thenius E (eds) Grzimeks Tierleben. Enzyklopädie des Tierreichs, Band 12: Säugetiere 3. Kindler, Zürich, pp 419–465
- Antoniou A, Kotoulas G, Magoulas A, Alves PC (2008) Evidence of autumn reproduction in female European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) from southern Europe. Eur J Wildl Res 54:581–587
- Ashrafzadeh MR, Djan M, Szendrei L, Paulauskas A, Scandura M, Bagi Z, Ilie DE, Kerdikoshvili N, Marek P, Soós N, Kusza S (2018) Large-scale mitochondrial DNA analysis reveals new light on the phylogeography of Central and Eastern-European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778). PLoS One 13:e020465
- Averianov A, Niethammer J, Pegel M (2003) Lepus europaeus Pallas, 1778—Feldhase [in German]. In: Niethammer J, Krapp F (eds) Handbuch der Säugetiere Europas, Band 3/II Hasentiere. AULA, Wiesbaden, pp 35–104
- Avril A, Letty J, Pradel R, Léonard Y, Santin-Janin H, Pontier D (2012) A multi-event model to study stagedependent dispersal in radio-collared hares: when hunting promotes costly transience. Ecology 93:1305–1316
- Avril A, Letty J, Léonard Y, Pontier D (2014) Exploration forays in juvenile European hares (*Lepus europaeus*): dispersal preludes or hunting-induced troubles? BMC Ecol 14:6
- Barlow A, Lawrence K, Everest D, Dastjerdi A, Finnegan C, Steinbach F (2014) Confirmation of myxomatosis in a European brown hare in Great Britain. Vet Rec 175:75–76
- Bartling C, Wölfel R, Nikolaou K, Petry T, Thiede S, Hildebrandt T, Fassbender M, Göritz F, Blottner S,

Spittler H, Neubauer H (2004) Prävalenz von Anti-Yersinia Antikörpern bei Feldhasen in Nordrhein-Westfalen [in German with English summary]. Dtsch Tierärztl Wochenschr 111:259–264

- Ben Slimen H, Suchentrunk F, Stamatis C, Mamuris Z, Sert H, Alves PC, Kryger U, Basyouni Shahin A, Ben Ammar Elgaaied A (2008) Population genetics of cape and brown hares (*Lepus capensis* and *L. europaeus*): a test of Petter's hypothesis of conspecificity. Biochem Syst Ecol 36:22–39
- Bensinger S, Kugelschafter K, Eskens U, Sobiraj A (2000) Untersuchungen zur j\u00e4hrlichen Reproduktionsleistung von weiblichen Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778) in Deutschland [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 46:73–83
- Bertolino S, Cordero di Montezemolo N, Perrone A (2013) Habitat use of coexisting introduced eastern cottontail and native European hare. Mamm Biol 78(4):235–240
- Beuković M, Beuković D, Popović Z, Đorđević N, Đorđević M (2013) Impact of climatic factors to the percentage of young in the population of brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* P) in the Bačka district. Acta Vet Brno 63:111–122
- Blottner S, Faber D, Roelants H (2000) Studies on European hare 56. Seasonal variation of testicular activity in European brown hare *Lepus europaeus*. Acta Theriol 45:385–394
- Blottner S, Lange A, Göritz F, Faßbender M, Broich A, Quest M, Gilles M, Lengwinat T, Hildebrandt TB (2001) Untersuchungen zur reproduktiven Fitness an lebenden männlichen Feldhasen aus unterschiedlichen Habitaten [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 47:84–91
- Boch J, Schneidawind H (1988) Krankheiten des jagdbaren Wildes [in German]. Paul Parey, Hamburg
- Bock A (2020) *Lepus europaeus* (Lagomorpha: Leporidae). Mamm Spec 52:125–142
- Borowski S (1964) Studies on the European hare I. Moulting and coloration. Acta Theriol 9:217–231
- Bray Y (1998) Vers une meilleure connaissance des flux demographiqu es chez le lièvre d'Europe (*Lepus europaeus*) [in French]. Diplome superieur d'Etudes et de recherche, Universite de Bourgogne, Dijon, France
- Bray Y, Champely S, Soyez D (2002) Age determination in leverets of European hare *Lepus europaeus* based on body measurements. Wildl Biol 8:31–39
- Bray Y, Devillard S, Marboutin E, Mauvy B, Péroux R (2007) Natal dispersal of European hare in France. J Zool 273:426–434
- Bresiński W (1976) Agrarian structure vs. the European hare population density. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 195–197
- Bresiński W (1983) The effect of some habitat factors on the spatial distribution of a hare population during winter. Acta Theriol 28:435–441

- Bresiński W, Chlewski A (1976) Tree stands in fields and spatial distribution of hare populations. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 185–193
- Broekhuizen S (1979) Studies on the European hare. XXXVI. Survival in adult European hares. Acta Theriol 24:465–473
- Broekhuizen S, Maaskamp F (1976) Behaviour and maternal relations of young European hares during the nursing period. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 59–67
- Broekhuizen S, Maaskamp F (1979) Age determination in the European hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) in The Netherlands. Z Säugetierkd 44:162–175
- Broekhuizen S, Maaskamp F (1980) Behaviour of does and leverets of the Euroepean hare (*Lepus europaeus*) whilst nursing. J Zool 191:487–501
- Broekhuizen S, Maaskamp F (1981) Annual production of young in European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in The Netherlands. J Zool 193:499–516
- Broekhuizen S, Maaskamp F (1982) Movement, home range and clustering in the European hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) in The Netherlands. Z Säugetierkd 47:22–32
- Broekhuizen S, Martinet L (1979) Growth of embryos of the European hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas). Z Säugetierkd 44:175–179
- Brüll U (1976) Nahrungsbiologische Studien am Feldhasen in Schleswig-Holstein. Ein Beitrag zur Äsungsverbesserung [in German]. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 93–99
- Bujalska G (1964) Studies on European hare. IV. Variations in the pelvis and sacrum. Acta Theriol 11:287–304
- Bujalska G, Caboń-Raczyńska K, Raczyński J (1965) Studies on the European hare. VI. Comparison of different criteria of age. Acta Theriol 10:1–9
- Bukovjan K, Slamečka J, Jurčík R, Hell P (1997) Contamination with polychlorated biphenyls. In: Slamečka J, Hell P, Jurcík R (eds) Brown hare in the Westslovak lowland. Acta Sc Nat Brno 31(3–4):49
- Butterworth A, Turner KME, Jennings N (2017) Minimising orphaning in the brown hare *Lepus europaeus* in England and Wales: should a close season be introduced? Wildl Biol 2017:wlb.00279
- Caboń-Raczyńska K (1964a) Studies on the European hare. II. Variations in the weight and dimensions of the body and weight of certain internal organs. Acta Theriol 9:233–248

- Caboń-Raczyńska K (1964b) Studies on the European hare. III. Morphologcial variation of the skull. Acta Theriol 9:249–285
- Caboń-Raczyńska K (1974) Studies on the European hare. XXX. Variability of the body weight of European hares. Acta Theriol 19:69–80
- Caillol M, Martinet L (1976) Preliminary results on plasma progesterone levels during pregnancy and superfetation in the hare, *Lepus europaeus*. J Reprod Fert 46:61–64
- Caillol M, Martinet L (1983) Mating periods and fertility in the doe hare (*Lepus europaeus*) bred in captivity. Acta Zool Fennica 174:65–68
- Caillol M, Mondain-Monval M, McNeilly AS (1990) Pattern of serum concentrations of prolactin and progesterone during pregnancy and lactation in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). J Endocrinol 124:11–17
- Caillol M, Mondain-Monval M, Meunier M, Rossano B (1991a) Pituitary and ovarian responses to luteinizinghormone-releasing hormone during pregnancy and after parturition in brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*). J Reprod Fert 92:89–97
- Caillol M, Mondain-Monval M, Rossano B (1991b) Gonadotrophins and sex steroids during pregnancy and natural superfoetation in captive brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*). J Reprod Fert 92:299–306
- Caillol M, Mondain-Monval M, Meunier M, Rossano B (1992) Influence of season of birth on onset of gonadotrophic and ovarian functions in young doe hares (*Lepus europaeus*). J Reprod Fert 96:747–753
- Canova L, Gazzola A, Pollini L, Balestrieri A (2020) Surveillance and habitat diversity affect European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) density in protected breeding areas. Eur J Wildl Res 66:66
- Cardarelli E, Meriggi A, Brangi A, Vidus-Rosin A (2011) Effects of arboriculture stands on European hare *Lepus europaeus* spring habitat use in an agricultural area of northern Italy. Acta Theriol 56:229–238
- Chapuis JL (1990) Comparison of the diets of two sympatric lagomorphs, *Lepus europaeus* (Pallas) and *Oryctolagus cuniculus* (L.) in an agroecosystem of the Ile-de-France. Z Säugetierkd 55:176–185
- Ciberej J (1993) Growth of embryos and losses during the prenatal development in European hare [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 23:99–112
- Ciberej J, Kačúr M (1991) Coefficient of survival and losses during the reproduction cycle in hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in the East Slovakian lowland [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 21:123–130
- Ciberej J, Halász J, Kačúr M (1997) The study of reproduction coefficients of brown hare population in the years 1980–1996 in eastern Slovakia [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 26-27:65–71
- Conrado zu Baldenstein T (1863) Der Bastardhase [in German]. Jahresber d Naturforsch Ges Graubündens 8:98–101
- Cooper J (1970) A note on hand-rearing European hares *Lepus europaeus* at London Zoo. Int Zoo Yearbook 10: 138–139

- Corbet GB (1983) A review of classification in the family Leporidae. Acta Zool Fennica 174:11–15
- Council of Europe (1979) Convention on the conservation of European wildlife and natural habitats. European Treaty Series - No.104. Council of Europe, Bern
- Črep K, Švický E (1993) Experimental study of the influence of herbicides on European hare [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 23:169–181
- Cukor J, Havránek F, Linda R, Bukovjan K, Painter MS, Hart V (2018) First findings of brown hare (*Lepus* europaeus) reintroduction in relation to seasonal impact. PLoS One 13:e0205078
- Cybulska N, Hackländer K, Palme R, Frey-Roos A, Schai-Braun SC (2020) Influence of cereal harvest on adrenocortical activity in European hares (*Lepus europaeus*). Eur J Wildl Res 66:95
- De Vos A, Dean PB (1967) The distribution of and the use of forms by European hares, *Lepus europaeus hybridus* (Desmarest, 1822), in southern Ontario. Säugetierkd Mitt 15:57–61
- Demarne Y, Lhuillery C, Pihet J, Martinet L, Flanzy J (1978) Comparative study of triacylglycerol fatty acids in mild fat from two leporid species: rabbit (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) and hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Comp Biochem Physiol 61B:223–226
- Diamond JM (1987) Aristotle's theory of mammalian teat number is confirmed. Nature 325:200
- Djan M, Stefanović M, Veličković N, Lavadinović V, Alves PC, Suchentrunk F (2017) Brown hares (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778) from the Balkans: a refined phylogeographic model. Hystrix 28:186–193
- Durdík M (1981) Losses of small field game caused by mechanization of crop production [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 10-11:95–107
- Edwards PJ, Fletcher MR, Berny P (2000) Review of the factors affecting the decline of the European brown hare, *Lepus europaeus* (Pallas, 1778) and the use of wildlife incident data to evaluate the significance of paraquat. Agric Ecosyst Environ 79:95–103
- Eiberle K, Matter J-F (1982) Ergebnisse einer Streckenanalyse beim Feldhasen [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 28:178–193
- Eskens U, Kugel B, Bensinger S, Bitsch N (1999) Untersuchungen über mögliche Einflussfaktoren auf die Populationsdichte des Feldhasen [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 45:60–65
- Farkas P, Kusza S, Balogh P, Majzinger I (2020) Examination of fertility indicators of European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in Eastern Hungary. J Anim Plant Sci 30: 634–641
- Ferreira MS, Jones MR, Callahan CM, Farelo L, Tolesa Z, Suchentrunk F, Boursot P, Mills LS, Alves PC, Good JM, Melo-Ferreira J (2021) The legacy of recurrent introgression during the radiation of hares. Syst Biol 70:593–607
- Ferretti M, Paci G, Porrini S, Galardi L, Bagliacca M (2010) Habitat use and home range traits of resident and relocated hares (*Lepus europaeus*, Pallas). Ital J Anim Sci 9:3

- Fickel J, Schmidt A, Putze M, Spittler H, Ludwig A, Streich W, Pitra C (2005) Genetic structure of populations of European brown hare: implications for management. J Wildl Manag 69:760–770
- Fischer C, Tagand R (2012) Spatial behaviour and survival of translocated wild brown hares. Anim Biodivers Conserv 35:189–196
- Flux JEC (1967a) Reproduction and body weights of the hare *Lepus europaeus* Pallas in New Zealand. NZ J Sci B 10:357–401
- Flux JEC (1967b) Hare numbers and diet in an alpine basin in New Zealand. Proc NZ Ecol Soc 14:27–33
- Flux JEC (1981a) Reproductive strategies in the genus Lepus. In: Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) Proceedings of the world lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph, pp 155–174
- Flux JEC (1981b) Field observations of behaviour in the genus *Lepus*. In: Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) Proceedings of the world lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph, pp 377–394
- Flux JEC (2008) A review of competition between rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) and hares (*Lepus europaeus*).
  In: Alves PC, Ferrand N, Hackländer K (eds) Lagomorph biology: evolution, ecology, and conservation.
  Springer, Heidelberg, pp 241–249
- Flux JEC (2009) Notes on New Zealand mammals 10. Effect of observer position on group size and level of aggression of mating brown hares. NZ J Zool 36:81–82
- Flux JEC, Angermann R (1990) The hares and jackrabbits. In: Chapman JA, Flux JEC (eds) Rabbits, hares and pikas. Status survey and conservation action plan. International Union for the Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Gland, pp 61–94
- Focardi S, De Marinis AM, Rizzotto M, Ucci A (2001) Comparative evaluation of thermal infrared imaging and spotlighting to survey wildlife. Wildl Soc Bull 29: 133–139
- Frölich K, Lavazza A (2008) European Brown Hare syndrome. In: Alves PC, Ferrand N, Hackländer K (eds) Lagomorph biology: evolution, ecology, and conservation. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 253–261
- Frölich K, Thiede S, Wisser J (2001) Infektionskrankheiten des Feldhasen [in German]. NUA-Seminarber 7:34–46
- Frölich K, Wisser J, Schmüser H, Fehlberg U, Neubauer H, Grunow R, Nikolaou K, Priemer J, Thiede S, Streich WJ, Speck S (2003) Epizootiologic and ecologic investigations of European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in selected populations from Schleswig-Holstein, Germany. J Wildl Dis 39:751–761
- Frunza G, Simeanu D, Pop C, Lazar R, Boisteanu PC, Stefan M (2019) Contributions on the sensorial, physico-chemical and nutritional characterization of hare meat (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas). Rev Chim 70: 174–180
- Frylestam B (1979) Studies on the European hare. XXXV. Structure, size, and dynamics of three European hare populations in Southern Sweden. Acta Theriol 24: 449–464

- Frylestam B (1981) Studies on the European hare. XXXVII. Estimating by spotlight the population density of the European hare. Acta Theriol 26:419–427
- Frylestam B (1986) Agricultural land use effects on the winter diet of brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) in southern Sweden. Mamm Rev 16:157–161
- Gavier-Widén D, Mörner T (1991) Epidemiology and diagnosis of the European brown hare syndrome in Scandinavian countries. Rev Sci Tech OIE 10:453–458
- Genghini M, Capizzi D (2005) Habitat improvement and effects on brown hare *Lepus europaeus* and roe deer *Capreolus*: a case study in northern Italy. Wildl Biol 11:319–329
- Göritz F, Faßbender M, Broich A, Quest M, Lange A, Blottner S, Gilles M, Lengwinat T, Spittler H, Hildebrandt TB (2001) Untersuchungen zur reproduktiven Fitness lebender weiblicher Feldhasen [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 47: 92–99
- Goszczyniski J, Ryszkowski L, Truszkowski J (1976) The role of the European hare in the diet of predators in cultivated field systems. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 269–286
- Goszczyński J, Wasilewski M (1992) Studies on the European hare. 46. Predation of foxes on a hare population in central Poland. Acta Theriol 37:329–338
- Grimmberger E, Rudloff K, Kern C (2009) Atlas der Säugetiere Europas, Nordafrikas und Vorderasiens [in German]. NTV Natur und Tier-Verlag, Münster
- Gustavsson I (1971) Mitotic and meiotic chromosomes of the variable hare (*Lepus timidus* L.), the common hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pall.) and their hybrids. Hereditas 67:27–34
- Gyuranecz M, Erdélyi K, Makrai L, Fodor L, Szépe B, Ráczné Mészáros Á, Dán A, Dencső L, Fassang E, Szeredi L (2011) Brucellosis of the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). J Comp Pathol 145:1–5
- Hackländer K (2011) Der Hase im Bergrevier. Der Anblick 2/2011:6–9
- Hackländer K, Schai-Braun SC (2018) Lepus europaeus Pallas, 1778. European hare. In: Smith AT, Johnston CH, Alves PC, Hackländer K (eds) Lagomorphs: pikas, rabbits, and hares of the world. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp 187–190
- Hackländer K, Schai-Braun SC (2019) *Lepus europaeus*. The IUCN red list of threatened species 2019:e. T41280A45187424
- Hackländer K, Frisch C, Klansek E, Steineck T, Ruf T (2001) Die Fruchtbarkeit weiblicher Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus*) aus Revieren mit unterschiedlicher Populationsdichte [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 47:100–110
- Hackländer K, Arnold W, Ruf T (2002a) Postnatal development and thermoregulation in the precocial

European hare (*Lepus europaeus*). J Comp Physiol B 172:183–190

- Hackländer K, Tataruch F, Ruf T (2002b) The effect of dietary fat content on lactation energetics in the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Physiol Biochem Zool 75:19–28
- Hackländer K, Miedler S, Beiglböck C, Zenker W (2003) The assessment of female reproduction and gestational age in European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) using ultrasonography. Mamm Biol 68:187–191
- Hackländer K, Ferrand N, Alves PC (2008) Overview of lagomorph research: what we have learned and what we still need to do. In: Alves PC, Ferrand N, Hackländer K (eds) Lagomorph biology: evolution, ecology, and conservation. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 381–391
- Hackländer K, Zeitlhofer C, Ceulemans T, Suchentrunk F (2011) Continentality affects body condition and size but not yearly reproductive output in female European hares (*Lepus europaeus*). Mamm Biol 76:662–664
- Haerer G, Nicolet J, Bacciarini L, Gottstein B, Giacometti M (2001) Causes of mortality, zoonoses and reproductive performance in European brown hares in Switzerland [in German with English summary]. Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd 143:193–201
- Hartl GB, Markowski J, Kovács G, Grillitsch M, Willing R (1990) Biochemical variation and differentiation in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) of Central Europe. Z Säugetierkd 55:186–193
- Hartl GB, Suchentrunk F, Nadlinger K, Willing R (1993) An integrative analysis of genetic differentiation in the brown hare *Lepus europaeus* based on morphology, allozymes, and mitochondrial DNA. Acta Theriol 38: 33–57
- Hauser WM (1921) Osteologische Unterscheidungsmerkmale der schweizerischen Feld- und Alpenhasen [in German]. Vierteljahrschr Naturforsch Ges Zürich 66:213–220
- Hediger H (1948) Die Zucht des Feldhasen (Lepus europaeus Pallas) in Gefangenschaft [in German]. Physiol Comp Oecol 1:46–62
- Heigl F, Stretz CR, Steiner W, Suppan F, Bauer T, Laaha G, Zaller JG (2016) Comparing road-kill datasets from hunters and citizen scientists in a landscape context. Remote Sens 8:832
- Hell P, Soviš B (1997) Influence of predators on hare population. In: Slamečka J, Hell P, Jurcík R (eds) Brown hare in the Westslovak lowland. Acta Sc Nat Brno 31(3–4):51–57
- Hewson R (1963) Moults and pelages in the brown hare Lepus europaeus occidentalis De Winton. Proc Zool Soc Lond 141:677–688
- Hewson R (1977) Food selection by brown hares (*Lepus capensis*) on cereal and turnip crops in north-east Scotland. J Appl Ecol 14:779–785
- Hewson R, Taylor M (1968) Studies on the European hare. XVI. Movements of European hares in an upland area of Scotland. Acta Theriol 13:31–34
- Hewson R, Taylor M (1975) Studies on the European hare. XXXIII. Embryo counts and length of the breeding

season in European hares in Scotland from 1960–1972. Acta Theriol 20:247–254

- Hirakawa H (2001) Coprophagy in leporids and other mammalian herbivores. Mamm Rev 31:61–80
- Holley AJF (1992) Studies on the biology of the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) with particular reference to behaviour. Dissertation. University of Durham, UK
- Holley AJF (2001) The daily activity period of the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Mamm Biol 66:357–364
- Holley AJF, Greenwood PJ (1984) The myth of the mad March hare. Nature 309:549–550
- Homolka M (1982) The food of *Lepus europaeus* Pallas in a meadow and woodland complex. Folia Zool 31: 243–253
- Homolka M (1985) Spatial activity of hares (*Lepus europaeus*). Folia Zool 34:217–226
- Homolka M (1986) Daily activity patterns of the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Folia Zool 35:33–42
- Homolka M (1987) The diet of brown hare (Lepus europaeus) in Central Bohemia. Folia Zool 36:103–110
- Horáček V, Uher J (1965) Zur Kenntnis des Geschlechtszyklus und der Superfötation bei dem Feldhasen Lepus europaeus Pall [in German]. Zool Listy 14:107–116
- Hornek-Gausterer R, Oberacher H, Reinstadler V, Hartmann C, Liebmann B, Lomako I, Scharf S, Posautz A, Kübber-Heiss A (2021) A preliminary study on the detection of potential contaminants in the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) by suspect and microplastics screening. Environ Adv 4:100045
- Huber W (1973) Biologie und Ökologie des Feldhasen [in German with English summary]. Beih Z Schweiz Forstver 52:223–237
- Hummel S, Meyer L, Hackländer K, Weber D (2017) Activity of potential predators of European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) leverets and ground-nesting birds in wildflower strips. Eur J Wildl Res 63:102
- Hušek J, Panek M, Tryjanowski P (2015) Predation risk drives habitat-specific sex ratio in a monomorphic species, the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Ethology 121: 593–600
- Jansson G, Pehrson Å (2007) The recent expansion of the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in Sweden with possible implications to the mountain hare (*L. timidus*). Eur J Wildl Res 53:125–130
- Jennings N (2017) Hares. RSPB spotlight. Bloomsbury, London
- Jennings N, Smith RK, Hackländer K, Harris S, White PCL (2006) Variation in demography, condition and dietary quality of hares *Lepus europaeus* from highdensity and low-density populations. Wildl Biol 12: 179–189
- Jerzierski W (1973) Environmental conditioning of the space structure and shyness in hares (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778). Ekol Polska 21:1–12
- Jezierski W (1965) Studies on the European hare. VII. Changes in some elements of the structure and size of population. Acta Theriol 10:11–25

- Jezierski W (1967) Four cases of 'home instinct' in the European hare. Acta Theriol 12:173–174
- Kałuziński J, Pielowski Z (1976) The effect of technical agriculture operations on the hare population. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 205–211
- Kamieniarz R, Voigt U, Panek M, Strauss E, Niewęgłowski H (2013) The effect of landscape structure on the distribution of brown hare *Lepus europaeus* in farmlands of Germany and Poland. Acta Theriol 58:39–46
- Karp D, Gehr B (2020) Bad hare day: very low survival rate in brown hare leverets. Wildl Biol 2020:wlb.00645
- Katona K, Altbäcker V (2002) Diet estimation by faeces analysis: sampling optimization for the European hare. Folia Zool 51:11–15
- Kilias H, Ackermann W (2001) Zur Bestandssituation des Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) in Bayern [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 47: 111–124
- Kittler L (1979) Wildverluste durch den Einsatz landwirtschaftlicher Maschinen nach einer Erhebung aus dem Jagdjahr 1976/77 in Nordrhein-Westfalen [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 25: 22–32
- Klansek E (1996) Biotoprevitalisierung und neue Überlegungen zur jagdlichen Nutzung des Feldhasen [in German]. Schriftenreihe Landesjagdverbandes Bayern eV 2:31–36
- Kleinmann JU, Wang M (2017) Modeling individual movement decisions of brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) as a key concept for realistic spatial behavior and exposure: A population model for landscape-level risk assessment. Environ Toxicol Chem 36:2299–2307
- Knauer F, Küchenhoff H, Pilz S (2010) A statistical analysis of the relationship between red fox *Vulpes vulpes* and its prey species (grey partridge *Perdix perdix*, brown hare *Lepus europaeus* and rabbit *Oryctolagus cuniculus*) in Western Germany from 1958 to 1998. Wildl Biol 16:56–65
- Koenen F (1956) Der Feldhase. Neue Brehm Bücherei 169 [in German]. A. Ziemsen, Wittenberg Lutherstadt, GDR
- Köhler D (2008) Beobachtungen zur Urbanisierung des Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus*) in Berlin – ein weiteres Beispiel für seine Anpassungsfähigkeit [in German]. Säugetierkd Inf 6:233–255
- Kotsakis T, Abbazzi L, Angelone C, Argenti P, Barisone G, Fanfani F, Marcolini F, Masini F (2003) Plio-Pleistocene biogeography of Italian mainland micromammals. Deinsea 10:313–342
- Kovács G (1983) Survival pattern in adult European hares. Acta Zool Fennica 174:69–70
- Kovács G, Heltay I (1981) Study of a European hare population mosaic in the Hungarian lowland. In: Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) Proceedings of the world

lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph, pp 508–528

- Kronfeld N, Shkolnik A (1996) Adaptation to life in the desert in the brown hare (*Lepus capensis*). J Mammal 77:171–178
- Kröning F (1963) Was wiegt ein Göttinger Hase? [in German]. Z Jagdwiss 9:107–109
- Kučera O (1991) Contents of heavy metals and milk fat in hare in artificial breeding [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 21:131–146
- Kuijper DPJ, van Wieren SE, Bakker JP (2004) Digestive strategies in two sympatrically occurring lagomorphs. J Zool 264:1–8
- Kummer J (1970) Beobachtungen bei der Aufzucht und Haltung von Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) [in German]. Zool Garten 38:138–140
- Kunst PJG, van der Wal R, van Wieren S (2001) Studies on the European hare. 57. Home ranges of brown hares in a natural salt marsh: comparisons with agricultural systems. Acta Theriol 43:287–294
- Kutzer E, Thiemann G, Grünberg W, Frey H (1976) Beiträge zu einer Feldhasenstudie. 1. "Gesundenuntersuchung" an erlegten Feldhasen aus österreichischen Revieren [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 22:50–61
- Kuznetsov AN, Luchkina OS, Panyutina AA, Kryukova NV (2017) Observations on escape runs in wild European hare as a basis for the mechanical concept of extreme cornering with special inference of a role of the peculiar subclavian muscle. Mamm Biol 84:61–72
- Lado S, Farelo L, Forest V, Acevedo P, Dalén L, Melo-Ferreira J (2018) Post-glacial range revolutions in South European hares (*Lepus* spp.): insights from ancient DNA and ecological niche modelling. J Biogeogr 45:2609–2618
- Lado S, Alves PC, Islam MZ, Brito JC, Melo-Ferreira J (2019) The evolutionary history of the Cape hare (*Lepus capensis* sensu lato): insights for systematics and biogeography. Heredity 123:634–646
- Lamarque F, Barrat J, Moutou F (1996) Principal diagnosis for determining causes of mortality in the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) found dead in France between 1986 and 1994. Gibier Faune Sauvage, Game Wildl 13:53–72
- Landois H (1885) Hasenzucht in enger Gefangenschaft [in German]. Zool Garten 26:359–361
- Langbein J, Hutchings MR, Harris S, Stoate C, Tapper SC, Wray S (1999) Techniques for assessing the abundance of brown hares *Lepus europaeus*. Mamm Rev 29: 93–116
- Le Gall-Reculé G, Lemaitre E, Bertagnoli S, Hubert C, Top S, Decors A, Marchandeau S, Guitton J-S (2017) Large-scale lagovirus disease outbreaks in European brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in France caused by RHDV2 strains spatially shared with rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). Vet Res 48:70
- Levänen F, Kunnasranta M, Pohjoismäki J (2018a) Mitochondrial DNA introgression at the northern edge of the

brown hare (Lepus europaeus) range. Ann Zool Fennici 55:15–24

- Levänen R, Thulin C-G, Spong G, Pohjoismäki JLO (2018b) Widespread introgression of mountain hare genes into Fennoscandian brown hare populations. PLoS One 13:e0191790
- Lewandowski K, Nowakowski JJ (1993) Studies on the European hare. 49. Spatial distribution of brown hare *Lepus europaeus* populations in habitats of various types of agriculture. Acta Theriol 38:435–442
- Lhuillery C, Martinet L, Demarne Y, Lecourtier MJ (1984) Food intake in captive leverets before weaning and the composition of the milk in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Comp Biochem Physiol 78A:73–76
- Lincoln GA (1974) Reproduction and "March madness" in the brown hare, *Lepus europaeus*. J Zool 174:1–14
- Lincoln GA, MacKinnon PCB (1976) A study of seasonally delayed puberty in the male hare, *Lepus europaeus*. J Reprod Fert 46:123–128
- Lindlöf B (1978) Aggressive dominance rank in relation to feeding by European hare. Viltrevy 10:143–158
- Lindstedt SL, Schaeffer PJ (2002) Use of allometry in predicting anatomical and physiological parameters of mammals. Lab Anim 36:1–19
- Linšak Ž, Tomić Linšak D, Špirić Z, Srebočan E, Glad M, Milin Č (2013) Effects of mercury on glutathione and glutathione-dependent enzymes in hares (*Lepus* europaeus Pallas). J Environ Sci Health A 48: 1325–1332
- Lloyd HG (1968) Observations on breeding in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) during the first pregnancy of the season. J Zool 156:521–528
- Lundström-Gilliéron C, Schlaepfer R (2003) Hare abundance as an indicator for urbanization and intensification of agriculture in Western Europe. Ecol Model 168: 283–301
- Lush L, Ward AI, Wheeler P (2014) Opposing effects of agricultural intensification on two ecologically similar species. Agri Ecosyst Environ 192:61–66
- Mamuris Z, Sfougaris AI, Stamatis C (2001) Genetic structure of Greek brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) populations as revealed by mtDNA RFLP-PCR analysis: implications for conserving genetic diversity. Biol Conserv 101:187–196
- Mamuris Z, Sfougaris AI, Stamatis C, Suchentrunk F (2002) Assessment of genetic structure of Greek brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) populations based on variation in random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD). Biochem Gen 40:323–338
- Marboutin E (1997) A note on home range size in the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Gibier Faune Sauvage, Game Wildl 14:349–357
- Marboutin E, Aebischer NJ (1996) Does harvesting arable crops influence the behaviour of the European hare *Lepus europaeus*. Wildl Biol 2:83–91
- Marboutin E, Hansen K (1998) Survival rates in a non harvested brown hare population. J Wildl Manag 62: 772–779

- Marboutin E, Péroux R (1995) Survival pattern of European hare in a decreasing population. J Appl Ecol 32:809–816
- Marboutin E, Péroux R (1999) Some aspects of the spatial distribution of hares (*Lepus europaeus*) at night. Gibier Faune Sauvage, Game Wildl 16:143–156
- Marboutin E, Benmergui M, Pradel R, Fiechter A (1990) Survival patterns in wild and captive-reared leverets (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) determined by telemetry. Gibier Faune Sauvage 7:325–342
- Marboutin E, Bray Y, Péroux R, Mauvy B, Lartiges A (2003) Population dynamics in European hare: breeding parameters and sustainable harvest rates. J Appl Ecol 40:580–591
- Marques JP, Ferreira MS, Farelo L, Callahan CM, Hackländer K, Jenny H, Montgomery WI, Reid N, Good JM, Alves PC, Melo-Ferreira J (2017) Mountain hare transcriptome and diagnostic markers as resources to monitor hybridization with European hares. Sci Data 4:170178
- Martinet L (1976) Seasonal reproduction cycles in the European hare, *Lepus europaeus*, raised in captivity. Role of photoperiodicity. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 55–57
- Martinet L (1980) Oestrous behaviour, follicular growth and ovulation during pregnancy in the hare (*Lepus europaeus*). J Reprod Fert 59:441–445
- Martinet L, Demarne Y (1984) Nursing behaviour and lactation in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) raised in captivity. Acta Zool Fennica 171:187–190
- Martinet L, Raynaud F (1972) Méchanisme possible de la superfetation chez la hase [in French]. C R Acad Sci Paris 274:2683–2686
- Martinet L, Legouis J-J, Moret B (1970) Quelques observations sur la reproduction du lièvre européen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) en captivité [in French with English summary]. Ann Biol Anim Bioch Biophys 10:195–202
- Martini H (1983) Die Ursachen auffallend hoher Hasenstrecken des Saarlandes in den Jagdjahren mit sehr niedrigen tollwutbedingten Fuchsdichten 1968/ 69 bis 1974/75 [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 29:1–12
- Massányi P, Lukač N, Hluchý N, Slamečka J, Jurčik R (1997) Histological and morphometric study of reproductive organs. In: Slamečka J, Hell P, Jurcík R (eds) Brown hare in the Westslovak lowland. Acta Sc Nat Brno 31(3–4):60–66
- Massányi P, Slamečka J, Lukác N, Jurčik R (2000) Seasonal variations in the morphometric analysis of the ovary and uterus and in progesterone and 17β-oestradiol production in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). J Anim Feed Sci 9:697–708
- Massányi P, Tataruch F, Slamecka J, Toman R, Jurik R (2003) Accumulation of lead, cadmium, and mercury in liver and kidney of the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*)

in relation to the season, age, and sex in the West Slovakian Lowland. J Environ Sci Health A: Toxic Hazard Subst Environ Eng 38:1299–1309

- Masseti M, De Marinis AM (2008) Prehistoric and historic artificial dispersal of lagomorphs on the Mediterranean islands. In: Alves PC, Ferrand N, Hackländer K (eds) Lagomorph biology: evolution, ecology, and conservation. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 13–25
- Matuszewski G (1966) Studies on the European hare. XIII. Food preference in relation to trees' branches experimentally placed on the ground. Acta Theriol 11: 485–496
- Matuszewski G (1981) Circadian activity of European hares in spring, on the Kampinos forest border. In: Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) Proceedings of the world lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph, pp 357–365
- Mayer M, Sunde P (2020a) The role of maize cultivation on European hare abundance. Agric Ecosyst Environ 295:106909
- Mayer M, Sunde P (2020b) Colonization and habitat selection of a declining farmland species in urban areas. Urban Ecosyst 23:543–554
- Mayer M, Ullmann W, Sunde P, Fischer C, Blaum N (2018) Habitat selection by the European hare in arable landscapes: the importance of small-scale habitat structure for conservation. Ecol Evol 8:11619–11633
- Mayer M, Ullmann W, Heinrich R, Fischer C, Blaum N, Sunde P (2019) Seasonal effects of habitat structure and weather on the habitat selection and home range size of a mammal in agricultural landscapes. Landsc Ecol 34: 2279–2294
- Mayer M, Duan X, Sunde P, Topping CJ (2020a) European hares do not avoid newly pesticide-sprayed fields: overspray as unnoticed pathway of pesticide exposure. Sci Total Environ 715:136977
- Mayer M, Fog Bjerre DH, Sunde P (2020b) Better safe than sorry: the response to a simulated predator and unfamiliar scent by the European hare. Ethology 126: 704–715
- McLaren GW, Hutchings MR, Harris S (1997) Why are brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) rare in pastoral landscapes in Great Britain? Gibier Faune Sauvage, Game Wildl 14:335–348
- Meichtry-Stier KS, Jenny M, Zellweger-Fischer J, Birrer S (2014) Impact of landscape improvement by agrienvironment scheme options on densities of characteristic farmland bird species and brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Agric Ecosyst Environ 189:101–109
- Melo-Ferreira J, Alves PC, Freitas H, Ferrand N, Boursot P (2009) The genomic legacy from the extinct *Lepus timidus* to the three hare species of Iberia: contrast between mtDNA, sex chromosomes and autosomes. Mol Ecol 18:2643–2658
- Melo-Ferreira J, Boursot P, Carneiro M, Esteves PJ, Farelo L, Alves PC (2012) Recurrent introgression of mitochondrial DNA among hares (*Lepus* spp.) revealed by species-tree inference and coalescent simulations. Syst Biol 61:367–381

- Melo-Ferreira J, Farelo L, Freitas H, Suchentrunk F, Boursot P, Alves PC (2014) Home-loving boreal hare mitochondria survived several invasions in Iberia: the relative roles of recurrent hybridisation and allele surfing. Heredity 112:265–273
- Mengoni C, Mucci N, Randi E (2015) Genetic diversity and no evidences of recent hybridization in the endemic Italian hare (*Lepus corsicanus*). Cons Gen 16:477–489
- Minoudi S, Papapetridis I, Karaiskou N, Chatzinikos E, Triantaphyllidis C, Abatzopoulos TJ (2018) Genetic analyses of brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) support limited migration and translocation of Greek populations. PLoS One 13:e0206327
- Misiorowska M (2013) Annual and seasonal home range and distances of movements of released hares (*Lepus* europaeus Pallas, 1778) in Central Poland. Folia Zool 62:133–142
- Misiorowska M, Wasilewski M (2012) Survival and causes of death among released brown hares (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778) in Central Poland. Acta Theriol 57: 305–312
- Misiorowska M, Ludwisiak Ł, Nasiadka P (2014) Population parameters of brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* L.) in regions of the species highest density in Poland [in Polish with English summary]. Sylwan 158: 901–910
- Modesto P, Cava PL, Peletto S, Colussi S, Vidus Rosin A, Meriggi A, Acutis PL (2011) Evaluation of genetic variability in brown hare populations from two protected areas in northern Italy. Hystrix 22:257–268
- Möller D (1971) Beitrag zur Reproduktion des Feldhasen (Lepus europaeus Pall.) in der Deutschen Demokratischen Republik [in German with English summary]. Tag-Ber dt Akad Landwirtsch-Wiss Berlin 113:191–202
- Möller D (1975) Zum Altersaufbau der Hasenpopulationen in der Deutschen Demokratischen Republik [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 9:315–325
- Möller D (1976) Die Fertilität der Feldhasenpopulationen [in German]. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 69–74
- Monaghan P, Metcalfe NB (1985) Group foraging in wild brown hares: effects of resource distribution and social status. Anim Behav 33:993–999
- Müller-Using D (1974) Diezels Niederjagd [in German]. Paul Parey, Hamburg
- Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) (1981) Proceedings of the world lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph
- Mykytowycz R (1966) Observations on odoriferous and other glands in the Australian wild rabbit, *Oryctolagus cuniculus* (L.) and the hare, *Lepus europaeus* P. I. The anal gland. CSIRO Wildl Res 11:11–29
- Myrcha A (1968) Studies on the European hare. XXI. Winter food intake in European hare (*Lepus europaeus*)

Pallas, 1778) in experimental conditions. Acta Theriol 28:453–459

- Naldi L, Greco I, Feretti M, Zaccaroni M (2020) Density estimates and habitat preferences of the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) on mountainous areas in Italy. Mammal Study 45:123–131
- Naumova EI, Zharova GK, Chistova TY, Kuznetsova TA (2015) The effect of coprophagy on the size of plant fibers in the digestive tract of hares *Lepus europaeus* and *L. timidus* (Lagomorpha, Leporidae). Biol Bull 42: 426–431
- Neumann F, Schai-Braun S, Weber D, Amrhein V (2011) European hares select resting places for providing cover. Hystrix 22:291–299
- Nösel H, Ahrens M (1996) Besatzsituation des Feldhasen im Thüringer Becken – Zwischenbilanz des Thüringer Niederwildprojektes [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 21:237–244
- Noszczyk-Nowak A, Nicpoń J, Nowak M, Slawuta P (2009) Preliminary reference values for electrocardiography, echocardiography and myocardial morphometry in the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Acta Vet Scand 51:6
- Notini G (1941) Om harens biologi [in Swedish]. Svenska Jägareförbundet Meddelande 4:1–192
- Nováková E, Dušek J, Šolc J (1976) Die Wachstumsgeschwindigkeit bei Junghasen in der Kulturlandschaft [in German]. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 85–92
- Orthwein L (1984a) Umweltveränderungen in Agrobiotopen Mitteleuropas und ihre Auswirkungen auf die Populationsdichten des Niederwildes. Teil 1 [in German]. Z Angew Zool 71:157–192
- Orthwein L (1984b) Umweltveränderungen in Agrobiotopen Mitteleuropas und ihre Auswirkungen auf die Populationsdichten des Niederwildes. Teil 2 [in German with English summary]. Z Angew Zool 71:313–334
- Paci G, Bagliacca M, Lavazza A (2006) Stress evaluation in hares (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) captured for traslocation. Ital J Anim Sci 5:175–181
- Paci F, Lavazza A, Ferretti M, Santilli F, Bagliacca M (2011) Relationship between anti-European Brown Hare syndrome serological titers and brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) densities. Int J Zool 2011:436193
- Packer JP (1989) Annual patterns in reproduction and perirenal fat of hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in sub-alpine Canterbury, New Zealand. J Zool 217:9–21
- Pajerský A, Svarc R, Medveďová M (1992) Loziskové zmeny v pl'úcach zajaca poľného vyvolané parazitom *Protostrongylus commutatus* (Diesing, 1851) [in Slovak with English summary]. Veterinárí medicína 37:249–255
- Panek M (2013) Long-term changes in the feeding pattern of red foxes *Vulpes vulpes* and their predation on brown

hares Lepus europaeus in western Poland. Eur J Wildl Res 59:581–586

- Panek M (2018) Habitat factors associated with the decline in brown hare abundance in Poland in the beginning of the 21st century. Ecol Indic 85:915–920
- Panek M, Kamieniarz R (1999) Studies on the European hare 54. Relationship between density of brown hare *Lepus europaeus* and landscape structure in Poland in the years 1981–1995. Acta Theriol 44:67–75
- Pavliska PL, Riegert J, Grill S, Šálek M (2018) The effect of landscape heterogeneity on population density and habitat preferences of the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in contrasting farmlands. Mamm Biol 88: 8–15
- Pegel M (1986) Der Feldhase (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) im Beziehungsgefüge seiner Um- und Mitweltfaktoren [in German]. Schriften des Arbeitskreises Wildbiologie und Jagdwissenschaft an der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen. F. Enke Verlag, Stuttgart
- Pépin D (1977) Phase finale du cycle de reproduction du lièvre, *Lepus europaeus* [in French with English summary]. Mammalia 41:221–230
- Pépin D (1986) Spring density and daytime distribution of the European hare in relation to habitat in an open field agrosystem. Z Säugetierkd 51:79–86
- Pépin D (1987) Dynamics of a heavily exploited population of European hare in a large-scale farming area. J Appl Ecol 24:725–734
- Pépin D (1989) Variation in survival of brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) leverets from different farmland areas in the Paris basin. J Appl Ecol 23:13–23
- Pépin D, Angibault JM (2007) Selection of resting sites by the European hare as related to habitat characteristics during agricultural changes. Eur J Wildl Res 53: 183–189
- Pépin D, Cargnelutti B (1994) Studies on the European hare. 51. Individual variations of daily activity patterns in radiotracked European hares during winter. Acta Theriol 39:399–409
- Petrak M (1990) Einflüsse landwirtschaftlicher Nutzung auf die Population des Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus*) [in German with English summary]. Verh Ges Ökol 19: 88–97
- Petrov P (1976) Über die Faktoren die den realen Zuwachs des Hasen bestimmen [in German]. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 119–126
- Petrovan SO, Ward AI, Wheeler PM (2013) Habitat selection guiding agri-environmental schemes for a farmland specialist, the brown hare. Anim Conserv 16: 344–352
- Petrovan SO, Dixie J, Yapp E, Wheeler PM (2017) Bioenergy crops and farmland biodiversity: benefits and limitations are scale-dependent for a declining mammal, the brown hare. Eur J Wildl Res 63:49

- Petrović Z, Teodorović V, Djurić S, Milićević D, Vranić D, Lukić M (2014) Cadmium and mercury accumulation in European hare (*Lepus europaeus*): age-dependent relationships in renal and hepatic tissue. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:14058–14068
- Petrusewicz K (1970) Studies on the European hare. XXIV. Dynamics and production of the hare population in Poland. Acta Theriol 15:413–445
- Pielowski Z (1966) Forschung über den Feldhasen XII. Die Raumstruktur der Population [in German with English summary]. Acta Theriol 11:449–484
- Pielowski Z (1969) Studies on the European hare. XXII. Sex ratio and weight of hares in Poland. Acta Theriol 14:119–131
- Pielowski Z (1971a) Studies on the European hare. XXV. The individual growth curve of the hare. Acta Theriol 16:79–88
- Pielowski Z (1971b) Studies on the European hare. XXVI. Length of life of the hare. Acta Theriol 16:89–94
- Pielowski Z (1972) Studies on the European hare. XXIX. Home range and degree of residence of the European hare. Acta Theriol 9:93–103
- Pielowski Z (1976a) Number of young born and dynamics of the European hare population. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international Symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 75–78
- Pielowski Z (1976b) The role of foxes in the reduction of the European hare population. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international Symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 135–148
- Pielowski Z (1981) Yearly balance of European hare populations. In: Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) Proceedings of the world lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph, pp 536–540
- Pielowski Z (1993) Die Greifvögel. Systematik, Artenbeschreibung, Biologie, Ökologie, Schutz, Falknerei [in German]. Verlag Neumann-Neudamm, Morschen/ Heina
- Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) (1976) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa
- Pielowski Z, Raczyński J (1976) Ecological conditions and rational management of hare populations. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international Symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 269–286
- Pierpaoli M, Riga F, Trocchi V, Randi E (1999) Species distinction and evolutionary relationships of the Italian

hare (*Lepus corsicanus*) as described by mitochondrial DNA sequencing. Mol Ecol 8:1805–1817

- Pilarska J (1969) Individual growth curve and food consumption by European hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas 1778) in laboratory conditions. Bull Acad Polonaise Sci 17:299–305
- Ponjiger I, Ristić Z, Marković V, Matejević M, Kovačević M (2019) The dynamics of red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) and brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) populations in the Vojvodina region (Serbia) in relation to rabies vaccination. Vet Arhiv 896:839–850
- Popescu F, Hackländer K, Arnold W, Ruf T (2011) Effects of season and reproductive state on lipid intake and fatty acid composition of gastrointestinal tract contents in the European hare. J Comp Physiol B 181:681–689
- Posautz A, Loncaric I, Lundin M, Hoffmann D, Lavazza A, Kelemen Z, Beiglböck C, Walzer C, Kübber-Heiss A (2015) Health screening of free-ranging European brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) on the German North-Sea island Pellworm. Acta Vet Scand 57:43
- Raczyński J (1964) Studies on the European hare. V. Reproduction. Acta Theriol 9:305–352
- Rehnus M, Bollmann K (2016) Non-invasive genetic population density estimation of mountain hares (*Lepus timidus*) in the Alps: Systematic or opportunistic sampling? Eur J Wildl Res 62:737–747
- Reichholf J (1981) Der Bestandstrend beim Feldhasen (Lepus europaeus Pallas 1778) und die jahreszeitliche Verteilung der Verluste im Straßenverkehr [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 27:240–246
- Reichlin T, Klansek E, Hackländer K (2006) Diet selection by hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in arable land and its implications for habitat management. Eur J Wildl Res 52: 109–118
- Reitz F, Leonard Y (1993) La survie estivale et automnale du lièvre d'Europe (*Lepus europaeus*) dans une plaine de grande culture du Bassin parisien [in French with English summary]. Gibier Faune Sauvage 10:167–172
- Reitz F, Leonard Y (1994) Studies on the European hare. 50. Characteristics of European hare *Lepus europaeus* use of space in a French agricultural region of intensive farming. Acta Theriol 39:143–157
- Reynolds JC, Tapper SC (1995) Predation by foxes *Vulpes vulpes* on brown hares *Lepus europaeus* in central southern England, and its potential impact on annual population growth. Wildl Biol 1:145–158
- Reynolds JC, Stoate C, Brockless MH, Aebischer NJ, Tapper SC (2010) The consequences of predator control for brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) on UK farmland. Eur J Wildl Res 56:541–549
- Rieck W (1953) Der Feldhase [in German]. Merkblätter des Niederwildausschusses des DJV. Nr. 4. F.C. Mayer, München
- Rieck W (1956a) Untersuchungen über die Vermehrung des Feldhasen [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 2:49–90
- Rieck W (1956b) Der Junghasenanteil auf den Strecken 1953–1954 [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 2:160–164

- Rieck W (1966) Zuwachs und Abschuß beim Hasenbesatz des Reviers Biebesheim a. Rh. [in German]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 5:95–98
- Rieck W (1967) Ergebnis der Untersuchung von Feldhasenstrecken [in German]. In: Isaković I (ed) Les rapports du VII congrès des Biologistes du Gibier, Beograd-Ljubljana, Septembre 1965, pp 383–388
- Rijks JM, Kik M, Koene MG, Engelsma MY, van Tulden P, Montizaan MG, Oomen T, Spierenburg MA, Ijzer J, van der Giessen JW, Gröne A, Roest HJ (2013) Tularaemia in a brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in 2013: first case in the Netherlands in 60 years. Euro Surveill 18:20655
- Ristić Z, Ponjiger I, Matejević M, Kovačević M, Ristić N, Marković V (2021) Effects of factors associated with the decline of brown hare abundance in the Vojvodina region (Serbia). Hystrix 32:67–71
- Rödel HG, Dekker JJA (2012) Influence of weather factors on population dynamics of two lagomorph species based on hunting bag records. Eur J Wildl Res 58: 923–932
- Rödel HG, Völkl W, Kilias H (2004) Winter browsing of brown hares: evidence for diet breadth expansion. Mamm Biol 69:410–419
- Roedenbeck IA, Voser P (2008) Effects of roads on spatial distribution, abundance and mortality of brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in Switzerland. Eur J Wildl Res 54: 425–437
- Roellig K, Goeritz F, Hildebrandt TB (2010a) Ultrasonographic characterisation of prenatal development in European brown hares (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas, 1778): an evolutionary approach. Reprod Fert Dev 22:448–458
- Roellig K, Goeritz F, Fickel J, Hermes R, Hofer H, Hildebrandt TB (2010b) Superconception in mammalian pregnancy can be detected and increases reproductive output per breeding season. Nature Comm 1:78
- Roellig K, Menzies BR, Hildebrandt TB, Goeritz F (2011) The concept of superfetation: a critical review on a 'myth' in mammalian reproduction. Biol Rev 86:77–95
- Ruf T, Valencak T, Tataruch F, Arnold W (2006) Running speed in mammals increases with muscle n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid content. PLoS One 1:e65
- Rühe F (1999) Effect of stand structures in arable crops on brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) distribution. Giber Faune Sauvage, Game Wildl 16:317–337
- Rühe F, Hohmann U (2004) Seasonal locomotion and home-range characteristics of European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in an arable region in central Germany. Eur J Wildl Res 50:101–111
- Rühe F, Fischbeck I, Rieger A (2000) Zum Einfluss von Habitatmerkmalen auf die Populationsdichte von Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) in Agrargebieten Norddeutschlands [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 29:333–342
- Ruiz-Fons F, Ferroglio E, Gortázar C (2013) Leishmania infantum in free-ranging hares, Spain, 2004-2010. Eur Secur 18:20541

- Sackmann H-J (1977) Erfahrungen bei der Haltung von Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pall.) [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 10:267–276
- Salvioli M, Pasquali S, Lavazza A, Zanoni M, Guberti V, Chiari M, Gilioli G (2017) EBHS in European brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*): disease dynamics and control. Hystrix 28:202–207
- Santilli F, Galardi L (2016) Effect of habitat structure and type of farming on European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) abundance. Hystrix 27:120–122
- Santilli F, Paci G, Bagliacca M (2014) Winter habitat selection by the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) during feeding activity in a farmland area of southern Tuscany (Italy). Hystrix 25:51–53
- Schäfers G (1996) Die Jagdstreckenentwicklung des Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) von 1959 bis 1993 in der alten Bundesrepublik Deutschland in Abhängigkeit von der Landwirtschaftsstruktur [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 21:215–228
- Schai-Braun SC, Hackländer K (2014) Home range use by the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in a structurally diverse agricultural landscape analysed at a fine temporal scale. Acta Theriol 59:277–287
- Schai-Braun SC, Hackländer K (2016) Family Leporidae (Hares and rabbits). In: Wilson DE, Lacher TE Jr, Mittermeier RA (eds) Handbook of the mammals of the world 6. Lynx Edicions, Barcelona, pp 62–149
- Schai-Braun SC, Rödel HG, Hackländer K (2012) The influence on daylight regime on diurnal locomotor activity patterns of the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) during summer. Mamm Biol 77:434–440
- Schai-Braun SC, Weber D, Hackländer K (2013) Spring and autumn habitat preferences of active European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in an agricultural area with low hare density. Eur J Wildl Res 59:387–397
- Schai-Braun SC, Peneder S, Frey-Roos F, Hackländer K (2014) The influence of cereal harvest on the homerange use of the European hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Mammalia 78:497–506
- Schai-Braun SC, Reichlin TS, Ruf T, Klansek E, Tataruch F, Arnold W, Hackländer K (2015) The European hare (*Lepus europaeus*): a picky herbivore searching for plant parts rich in fat. PLoS One 10: e0134278
- Schai-Braun SC, Kowalczyk C, Klansek E, Hackländer K (2019) Estimating sustainable harvest rates for European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) populations. Sustainability 11:2837
- Schai-Braun SC, Ruf T, Klansek E, Arnold W, Hackländer K (2020) Positive effects of set-asides on European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) populations: leverets benefit from an enhanced survival rate. Biol Conserv 244:108518
- Schai-Braun SC, Jenny H, Ruf T, Hackländer K (2021a) Temperature increase and frost decrease driving upslope elevational range shifts in Alpine grouse and hares. Glob Change Biol 27:6602–6614

- Schai-Braun SC, Steiger P, Ruf T, Arnold W, Hackländer K (2021b) Maternal effects on reproduction in the precocial European hare (*Lepus europaeus*). PLoS One 16: e0247174
- Schenker L, Bollmann K, Rehnus M, Brodbeck S, Gugerli F (2020) Hare's affairs: Lessons learnt from a noninvasive genetic monitoring for tracking mountain hare individuals. Ecol Evol 10:10150–10166
- Schmidt NM, Asferg T, Forchhammer MC (2004) Longterm patterns in European brown hare population dynamics in Denmark: effects of agriculture, predation and climate. BMC Ecol 4:15
- Schneider E (1976) Derzeitige Kenntnisse über das Paarungsverhalten des Feldhasen [in German with English summary]. In: Pielowski Z, Pucek Z (eds) Ecology and management of European hare populations. The proceedings of an international Symposium held in Poznań on December 23–24, 1974. Państwowe Wydawnictwo Rolnicze I Leśne, Warszawa, pp 41–57
- Schneider E (1977) Verhaltensstudie am Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 10:277–288
- Schneider E (1978) Der Feldhase: Biologie, Verhalten, Hege und Jagd [in German]. BLV Verlagsgesellschaft, München
- Schneider E (1981) Studies on the social behaviour of the brown hare. In: Myers K, McInnes CD (eds) Proceedings of the world lagomorph conference. University of Guelph, Guelph, pp 340–348
- Schrama M, Kuijper DPJ, Veeneklaas RM, Bakker JP (2015) Long-term decline in a salt marsh hare population largely driven by bottom-up factors. Ecoscience 22:71–82
- Schröder J, Soveri T, Suomalainen HA, Lindberg L-A, van der Loo W (1987) Hybrids between *Lepus timidus* and *Lepus europaeus* are rare although fertile. Hereditas 107:185–189
- Schröpfer R, Nyenhuis H (1982) Die Bedeutung der Landschaftsstruktur für die Populationsdichte des Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas 1778) [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 28:213–231
- Schwenk S (1985) Österreichische Jagdstatistiken von 1850–1936 [in German]. Homo Venator 13:1–203
- Šebová K (1991) Fecundity and prenatal development of hare in the West Slovakian region [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 21:113–122
- Sedlák K, Literák I, Faldyna M, Toman M, Benák J (2000) Fatal toxoplasmosis in brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*): possible reasons of their high susceptibility to the infection. Vet Parasitol 93:13–28
- Semizorová I (1982) Reproduction indices of hare game in present conditions [in Slovak with English summary]. Folia Venatoria 12:117–125
- Severtsov AS, Rosenzweig ML, Shubkina AV (2017) Predators detect the welfare of their potential prey and cull those that are poorly. Evol Ecol Res 18(5):555–569
- Siivonen L (1956) The correlation between the fluctuations of partridge and European hare populations and the

climatic conditions of winters in South-West Finland during the last thirty years. Riistatiet Julk – Papers Game Res 17:1–30

- Škrivanko M, Hadžiosmanović M, Cvrtila Ž, Zdolec N, Filipović I, Kozačinski L, Florijančić T, Bošković I (2008) The hygiene and quality of hare meat (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) from Eastern Croatia. Arch Leb 59: 180–184
- Slamečka J, Šebová K (1991) Reproductive parameters of brown hare kept in captivity. Transactions of the XXth Congress of the International Union of Game Biologists, Gödöllő. Hungary August 21–26:618–624
- Slamečka J, Jurčík R, Hell P, Minárová Z (1997) Weight of inner organs. In: Slamečka J, Hell P, Jurcík R (eds) Brown hare in the Westslovak lowland. Acta Sc Nat Brno 31(3–4):11–12
- Slamečka J, Palanská O, Jurčik R, Ondrejička R, Hell P, Mojto J (1998) Meat quality of brown hares (*Lepus* europaeus Pall.) [in German with English summary]. Fleischwirtschaft 78:824–826
- Slamečka J, Massányi P, Hell P, Jurčik R, Lukáč N, Sirotkin A (2001) Morphometry and secretory activity of reproductive organs in brown hare *Lepus europaeus*. Folia Zool 50:173–183
- Slamečka J, Capcarova M, Jurčik R, Kolesarova A, Ondruska L, Gasparik J, Lukáč N, Mertin D (2012) The occurrence and dynamics of polychlorinated hydrocarbons in brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in south-western Slovakia. J Environ Sci Health A 47: 1217–1223
- Sliwinski K, Ronnenberg K, Jung K, Strauß E, Siebert U (2019) Habitat requirements of the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas 1778) in an intensively used agriculture region (Lower Saxony, Germany). BMC Ecol 19:31
- Smith RK, Jennings NV, Robinson A, Harris S (2004) Conservation of European hares *Lepus europaeus* in Britain: is increasing habitat heterogeneity in farmland the answer? J Appl Ecol 41:1092–1102
- Smith RK, Jennings NV, Harris S (2005a) A quantitative analysis of the abundance and demography of European hares *Lepus europaeus* in relation to habitat type, intensity of agriculture and climate. Mamm Rev 35:1–24
- Smith RK, Jennings NV, Tataruch F, Hackländer K, Harris S (2005b) Vegetation quality and habitat selection by European hares *Lepus europaeus* in a pastoral landscape. Acta Theriol 50:391–404
- Sokolov VE, Ivanitskaya EY, Gruzdev VV, Heptner VG (2009) Lagomorphs. A volume in the series Mammals of Russia and adjacent regions. Smithsonian Institution Libraries, Washington, DC
- Soveri T, Valtonern M (1983) Endoparasites of hares (*Lepus timidus* L. and *L. europaeus* Pallas) in Finland. J Wildl Dis 19:337–341
- Späth V (1989) Untersuchungen zur Populationsökologie des Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) in der Oberrheinebene [in German]. Freiburger Waldschutz-

Abhandlungen 8. Forstzoologisches Institut der Albert-Ludwigs-Universität, Freiburg i. Br.

- Spittler H (1972) Über die Auswirkung der durch die Tollwut hervorgerufenen Reduzierung der Fuchspopulation auf den Niederwildbesatz in Nordrhein-Westfalen [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 18:76–95
- Spyrou V, Stamatis C, Birtsas P, Psychas V, Manolakou K, Billinis C, Mamuris Z (2013) Evidence for European brown hare syndrome virus introduction with translocated brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*): implications for management of restocking operations. Wildl Res 40:545–551
- Stamatis C, Suchentrunk F, Sert H, Triantaphyllidis C, Mamuris Z (2007) Genetic evidence for survival of released captive-bred brown hares *Lepus europaeus* during restocking operations in Greece. Oryx 41: 548–551
- Stavy M, Terkel J, Kohen F (1978) Plasma progesterone levels during pregnancy and pseudopregnancy in the hare (*Lepus europaeus syriacus*). J Reprod Fert 54: 9–14
- Stavy M, Goldblatt A, Terkel J (1985) Home odor preferences in young hares (*Lepus capensis syriacus*): Effects of age and role of maternal presence. Dev Psychobiol 18:125–139
- Štěrba O (1981) Prenatal development and growth of *Lepus europaeus*. Folia Zool 30:147–154
- Stieve H (1952) Zur Fortpflanzungsbiologie des europäischen Feldhasen (*Lepus europaeus* Pallas) [in German]. Zool Anz 148:101–114
- Stoate C, Tapper SC (1993) The impact of three hunting methods on brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) populations in Britain. Gibier Faune Sauvage 10:229–240
- Strauß E, Grauer A, Bartel M, Klein R, Wenzelides L, Greiser G, Muchin A, Nösel H, Winter A (2008) The German wildlife information system: population densities and development of European hare (*Lepus europaeus* PALLAS) during 2002–2005 in Germany. Eur J Wildl Res 54:142–147
- Štrbenc M, Fazarinc G, Bavdek SV, Pogačnik A (2003) Apoptosis and proliferation during seasonal testis regression in the brown hare (*Lepus europaeus* L.). Anat Histol Embryol 32:48–53
- Stroh G (1931) Zwei sichere Altersmerkmale beim Hasen [in German]. Berlin Tierärztl Wschr 12:180–181
- Stubbe I, Stubbe W (1997) Untersuchungen zum Gesundheitsstatus von Hasen (*Lepus europaeus*) in Sachsen-Anhalt [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 22:63–115
- Suchentrunk F, Willing R, Hartl GB (1991) On eye lens weight and other age criteria of the brown hare (*Lepus* europaeus Pallas, 1778). Z Säugetierkd 56:365–374
- Suchentrunk F, Polster K, Giacometti M, Ratti P, Thulin CG, Ruhlé C, Vasil'ev AG, Slotta-Bachmayr L (1999) Spatial partitioning of allozyme variability in European mountain hares (*Lepus timidus*): gene pool divergence across a disjunct distributional range? Z Säugetierkd 64:308–318

- Suchentrunk F, Michailov C, Markov G, Haiden A (2000) Studies on the European hare. 55. Population genetics of Bulgarian brown hares *Lepus europaeus*: allozymic diversity at zoogeographical crossroads. Acta Theriol 45:1–12
- Suchentrunk F, Mamuris Z, Sfougaris AI, Stamatis C (2003) Biochemical genetic variability in brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) from Greece. Biochem Genet 41: 127–140
- Suchentrunk F, Ben Slimen H, Stamatis C, Sert H, Scandura M, Apollonio M, Mamuris Z (2006) Molecular approaches revealing prehistoric, historic, or recent translocations and introductions of hares (genus *Lepus*) by humans. Hum Evol 21:151
- Suchomel J, Šipoš J, Čepelka L, Heroldová M (2019) Impact of *Microtus arvalis* and *Lepus europaeus* on apple trees by trunk bark gnawing. Plant Protect Sci 55:142–147
- Swihart RK (1986) Home range-body mass allometry in rabbits and hares (Leporidae). Acta Theriol 31: 139–148
- Szederei A (1959) Beobachtungen über den Feldhasen in Ungarn [in German with English summary]. Z Jagdwiss 5:81–94
- Tapper SC, Barnes RFW (1986) Influence of farming practice on the ecology of the brown hare (*Lepus* europaeus). J Appl Ecol 23:39–52
- Taylor M (2017) The way of the hare. Bloomsbury, London
- Temple HJ, Terry A (2007) The status and distribution of European mammals. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg
- Thulin C-G (2003) The distribution of mountain hares *Lepus timidus* in Europe: a challenge from brown hares *L. europaeus*? Mamm Rev 33:29–42
- Thulin C-G, Tegelström H (2002) Biased geographical distribution of mitochondrial DNA that passed the species barrier from mountain hares to brown hares (genus *Lepus*): an effect of genetic incompatibility and mating behaviour? J Zool 258:299–306
- Thulin C-G, Fang M, Averianov AO (2006) Introgression from *Lepus europaeus* to *L. timidus* in Russia revealed by mitochondrial single nucleotide polymorphisms and nuclear microsatellites. Hereditas 143:68–76
- Toldt K (1935) Aufbau und natürliche Färbung des Haarkleides der Wildsäugetiere [in German]. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Kleintier- und Pelztierzucht, Leipzig
- Tomaso H, Otto P, Peters M, Süss J, Karger A, Schamoni H, Zuchantke E, Hotzel H (2018) *Francisella tularensis* and other bacteria in hares and ticks in North Rhine-Westphalia (Germany). Ticks Tick Borne Dis 9:325–329
- Topping CJ, Dalby L, Skov F (2016) Landscape structure and management alter the outcome of a pesticide ERA: evaluating impacts of endocrine disruption using the ALMaSS European brown hare model. Sci Total Environ 541:1477–1488
- Trouessart È-L (1910) Faune des Mammifères d'Europe [in French]. R. Friedländer & Sohn, Berlin

- Tsokana CN, Sokos C, Giannakopoulos A, Mamuris Z, Birtsas P, Papaspyropoulos K, Valiakos G, Spyrou V, Lefkaditis M, Chatzopoulos DC, Kantere M, Manolakou K, Touloudi A, Burriel AR, Ferroglio E, Hadjichristodoulou C, Billinis C (2016) First evidence of *Leishmania* infection in European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) in Greece: GIS analysis and phylogenetic position within the *Leishmania* spp. Parasitol Res 115:313–321
- Tsokana CN, Sokos C, Giannakopoulos A, Birtsas P, Valiakos G, Spyrou V, Athanasiou LV, Burriel AR, Billinis C (2020) European brown hare (*Lepus* europaeus) as a source of emerging and re-emerging pathogens of public health importance: a review. Vet Med Sci 6:550–564
- Ullmann W, Fischer C, Kramer-Schadt S, Pirhofer-Walzl K, Glemnitz M, Blaum N (2020) How do agricultural practices affect the movement behaviour of European brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*)? Agric Ecosyst Environ 292:106819
- Valencak TG, Arnold W, Tataruch F, Ruf T (2003) High content of polyunsaturated fatty acids in muscle phospholipids of a fast runner, the European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). J Comp Physiol B 173:695–702
- Valencak TG, Tataturch F, Ruf T (2009) Peak energy turnover in lactating European hares: the role of fat reserves. J Exp Biol 212:231–237
- Valencak TG, Hackländer K, Ruf T (2010) Peak energy turnover in lactating European hares: a test of the heat dissipation limitation hypothesis. J Exp Biol 213: 2832–2839
- Valencak TG, Gamsjäger L, Ohrnberger S, Culbert NJ, Ruf T (2015) Healthy n-6/n-3 fatty acid composition from five European game meat species remains after cooking. BMC Res Notes 8:273
- Vaughan N, Lucas E-A, Harris S, White PCL (2003) Habitat associations of European hares *Lepus europaeus* in England and Wales: implications for farmland management. J Appl Ecol 40:163–175
- Velarde R, Cavadini P, Neimanis A, Cabezón O, Chiari M, Gaffuri A, Lavín S, Grilli G, Gavier-Widén D, Lavazza A, Capucci L (2017) Spillover events of infection of brown hares (*Lepus europaeus*) with Rabbit Haemorrhagic Disease Type 2 Virus (RHDV2) caused sporadic cases of an European Brown Hare syndromelike disease in Italy and Spain. Transbound Emerg Dis 64:1750–1761
- Vidus-Rosin A, Lizier MA, Serrano-Perez S (2012) Habitat selection and segregation by two sympatric lagomorphs: the case of European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) and Eastern cottontails (*Sylvilagus floridanus*) in northern Italy. Acta Theriol 57:295–304
- Viviano A, Mori E, Fattorini N, Mazza G, Lazzeri L, Panichi A, Strianese L, Mohamed WF (2021) Spatiotemporal overlap between the European brown hare and its potential predators and competitors. Animals 11:562
- Voigt U, Siebert U (2019) Living on the edge circadian habitat usage in pre-weaning European hares (Lepus

*europaeus*) in an intensively used agricultural area. PLoS One 14:e0222205

- Voigt U, Siebert U (2020) Survival rates on pre-weaning European hares (*Lepus europaeus*) in an intensively used agricultural area. Eur J Wildl Res 66:67
- Wajdzik M, Halecki W, Kalarus K, Gąsiorek M, Pająk M (2017) Relationship between heavy metal accumulation and morphometric parameters in European hare (*Lepus europaeus*) inhabiting various types of landscapes in southern Poland. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 145:16–23
- Watson JS, Taylor RH (1955) Reingestion in the hare Lepus europaeus Pal. Science 121:314
- Weber D, Roth T, Kohli L (2019) Increasing brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*) densities in farmland without predator culling: results of a field experiment in Switzerland. Eur J Wildl Res 65:75
- Weterings MJA, Moonen S, Prins HHT, van Wieren SE, van Langevelde F (2018) Food quality and quantity are more important in explaining foraging of an intermediate-sized mammalian herbivore than predation risk or competition. Ecol Evol 8:8419–8432

- Weterings MJA, Ewert SP, Peereboom JN, Kuipers HJ, Kuijper DPJ, Prins HHT, Jansen PA, van Langeveld F, van Wieren SE (2019) Implications of shared predation for space use in two sympatric leporids. Ecol Evol 9:3457–3469
- Wibbelt G, Frölich K (2005) Infectious diseases in European brown hare (*Lepus europaeus*). Wildl Biol Pract 1:86–93
- Zaccaroni M, Biliotti N, Buccianti A, Calieri S, Ferretti M, Genghini M, Riga F, Trocchi V, Dessi-Fulgheri F (2013) Winter locomotor activity patterns of European hares (*Lepus europaeus*). Mamm Biol 78:482–485
- Zachos FE, Ben Slimen H, Hackländer K, Giacometti M, Suchentrunk F (2010) Regional genetic in situ differentiation despite phylogenetic heterogeneity in Alpine mountain hares. J Zool 282:47–53
- Zörner H (1977) Erste Ergebnisse dreijähriger Untersuchungen an der Hasenpopulation des Wildforschungsgebietes Hakel [in German with English summary]. Beitr Jagd Wildforsch 8:203–216
- Zörner H (1981) Der Feldhase [in German]. Die Neue Brehm Bücherei 169. Ziemsen, Wittenberg, GDR